JOURNEY TO BECOMING A SUPERINTENDENT IN NEW YORK: A TRANSCENDENTAL PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

by

Jeremy R. Koch

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2024

JOURNEY TO BECOMING A SUPERINTENDENT IN NEW YORK: A TRANSCENDENTAL PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY

by

Jeremy R. Koch

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2024

APPROVED BY:

Vonda S. Beavers, EdD, Committee Chair

Andrea M. Bruce, EdD, Committee Member

Abstract

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences an individual encounters on their journey to becoming a superintendent at a school district in New York. The theory used in this study was the push-pull model (PPM) by E. G. Ravenstein and the push-pull mooring model by E. S. Lee and later B. Moon, to study the lived experiences of those who have become school district superintendents. The PPM was used to determine what themes are present in an individual's journey to the superintendency that pulls them to the position, pushes them away, or causes them to remain in the position. Qualitative data were collected from 10 participants who held the superintendent position or are currently employed as a school district superintendent in suburban communities across New York. Qualitative data were gathered from participants through semi-structured interviews, questionnaires, and focus group sessions. Data were coded and categorized into three themes: professional relationships and skills, motivations and goals, and career development. Delve software was used to analyze data. Results indicated that most superintendents followed a traditional role, starting as an educator and moving through administrative-level positions before attaining a superintendent role. Some pushes were participants feeling they would be a better option for the district than current or future candidates. Others were seeking stability and professionalism within their districts. The pulls to superintendency were predominantly around doing the best for students in their own way. Participants explained that their time in upper administrative roles prepared them as best as possible for a superintendent's position.

Keywords: superintendency, push-pull-mooring theory, leadership, career path

Copyright Page

© 2024, Jeremy R. Koch

Dedication

To my wife, children, father, mother, and so many more who have supported, encouraged, inspired, critiqued, and empowered me to push beyond my own expectations and limitations to succeed, thank you. I quite literally could not have done this with you. This dedication does little justice for the abundance of gratitude I have for each of you who have helped in so many ways along this journey. With all the love and appreciation I hold, I give thanks from a full and humble heart. I also have to thank my work family as they have assisted me in their own way, allowing me to embark on this journey by taking on additional burdens to provide me with support. Lastly, to my dissertation chairperson who did not lose faith and was always there for support and intelligent feedback regardless of life events experienced personally by the both of us. To all, this research is a result of the support provided in a plethora of ways, thank you.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Copyright Page	4
Dedication	5
Table of Contents	6
List of Tables	13
List of Abbreviations	14
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	15
Overview	15
Background	15
Historical Context	16
Social Context	17
Theoretical Context	19
Problem Statement	21
Purpose Statement	22
Significance of the Study	22
Research Questions	24
Central Research Question	24
Sub-Question One	24
Sub-Question Two	24
Sub-Question Three	25
Definitions	25
Summary	25

CH	HAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	28
	Overview	28
	Theoretical Framework	28
	Push-Pull Theory	29
	Push-Pull-Mooring Turnover Theory	30
	Push, Pull, and Mooring Factors	30
	Related Literature	31
	Leadership Styles	31
	Instrumental Leadership	33
	Change Leadership	33
	Servant Leadership	34
	Transformational Leadership	36
	Adaptive Leadership	38
	Skills and Traits in Superintendency	40
	Skills in Superintendency	40
	Traits in Superintendency	42
	The School Superintendency	44
	Educational Requirements	44
	Experiences	45
	Striving Towards Success	45
	Board of Education Impact on Superintendents	49
	Challenges in the Leadership Role	52
	Job-Specific Factors Along the Pathway to Superintendent	53

Burnout as a Factor in Turnover	54
Job Effectiveness	54
Pay Satisfaction	55
Leadership Success and Promotion	55
Job Preferences	55
Cost of Transition	56
Routine/Habit	56
Job Satisfaction	57
Why Leaders Become Leaders	57
Summary	58
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	60
Overview	60
Research Design	60
Research Questions	61
Central Research Question	62
Sub-Question One	62
Sub-Question Two	62
Sub-Question Three	62
Setting and Participants	62
Setting	62
Participants	64
Researcher Positionality	64

Interpretive Framework	65
Philosophical Assumptions	65
Researcher's Role	67
Procedures	68
Permissions	68
Recruitment Plan	68
Data Collection Plan	69
Individual Interviews	70
Questionnaires	75
Focus Groups	77
Data Synthesis	80
Trustworthiness	80
Credibility	81
Transferability	82
Dependability	82
Confirmability	83
Ethical Considerations	83
Summary	84
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	86
Overview	86
Participants	86
Participant 001 – Maci	88
Participant 002 – Sara	88

Participant 003 – Chance	89
Participant 004 – Sean	89
Participant 005 – Sylvia	89
Participant 006 – Paul	90
Participant 007 – Kaleb	90
Participant 008 – Kaci	91
Participant 009 – Jaimie	91
Participant 010 – Theodon	92
Results	92
Professional Relationships and Skills	93
Mentorship	94
Education and Leadership Skills	95
Motivation and Goals	96
Pushes	96
Pulls	97
Career Development	98
Outlier Data and Findings	99
Non-traditional Path	99
Research Question Responses	100
Central Research Question	100
Sub-Question One	102
Sub-Question Two	103

Sub-Question Three	104
Summary	105
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	107
Overview	107
Discussion	107
Summary of Thematic Findings	108
Internal and External Confidence.	108
Implications for Policy or Practice	112
Implications for Policy	112
Implications for Practice	113
Empirical and Theoretical Implications	115
Empirical Implications	115
Theoretical Implications	117
Limitations and Delimitations	117
Recommendations for Future Research	119
Conclusion	120
References	122
Appendix A	151
Appendix B	152
Appendix C	158
Appendix D	159
Central Research Question	159

Sub-Question One	159
Sub-Question Two	159
Sub-Question Three	159

List of Tables

Superintendent Participants	.87
Themes and Subthemes	. 93

List of Abbreviations

Board of Education (BOE)

Push-Pull-Mooring Theory (PPM)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental, phenomenological study was to understand the journey and lived experiences an individual encounters when acquiring and carrying out the role of superintendent in New York. The study's historical, social, and theoretical contexts are described to understand what the superintendent's position is, what is experienced, and how it will be viewed throughout the current study. The lack of research on the specifics of lived experiences throughout a superintendent's career leaves gaps in understanding what pathway a person takes to become a superintendent. Additionally, Chapter One focuses on key terms and their theoretical, empirical, contextual, and practical significance in broadening and extending the body of literature related to the position of the superintendent.

Background

The chief executive officer in a public school district is typically the top individual who holds the position of superintendent. In New York, other positions existed before 1910, such as elected school commissioners (New York State Education Department, 2021). The role of superintendency spans the globe as a chief school agent driving educational mandates and modeling social practices for the communities they serve (Hardy & Salo, 2022). Superintendents impact community stakeholders, BOE members, administration, faculty, students, and those in other school districts; they implement topics such as racial literacy, which can spread across a region with political, ethical, and legal implications (Horsford, 2010). To understand why a person is drawn to, pushed towards, or remains in a superintendent's position, the push-pull mooring theory, postulated by Moon (1995), explains and demystifies the migratory behaviors leading to and within the executive superintendent role.

Historical Context

In New York, the superintendency evolved from an elected position known as a commissioner. Districts were first divided into 113 sections, and commissioners were elected to serve 3-year terms in office (New York State Education Department, 2021). Aside from politics, the core issue was the qualifications of commissioners as educational experts. However, a superintendent's duties are similar to those served a century ago (Duties of a Superintendent of Schools, 1921). The change from commissioners to appointed superintendents of New York school districts was completed in 1910 through an amendment to educational law (New York State Education Department, 2021). As the title has changed, the number of districts in the state has also changed; 11,000 school districts have been reduced to the current 704 public school districts (New York State Education Department, 2021). Though this change occurred in New York in the 1900s, the title was familiar, as the National Association of School Superintendents (NASS) formed prior in 1865 (Griffen, 2022).

Since 1910, superintendents have been the lead authority and supervisors of school districts across New York, and for over a century it has been a position that has battled politics, gender, and race across the United States (Kalbus, 2000). Though the initial responsibility to manage public schools has not changed, the way schools are effectively managed and have imposed pedagogical practices has increased in breadth and responsibility (Nir & Eyal, 2003). An example of the increased breadth of effectively managing schools and the imposition of new pedagogical practices that superintendents across the United States have had to handle include enormous technology gaps resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic (Rubin, 2020). This breadth of responsibility has focused on the whole student, where superintendents have also faced atypical issues, such as feeding students who hunted for food or trapped and sold furs for warmth

and income (Bock, 2018).

From the first superintendents gathering in 1865, there has been an increase in state, national, and international consortiums available, as well as a rise in certifications and educational requirements superintendents are expected to hold when acquiring the position (Petersen et al., 2008). The increase in training, experience, and certifications resulted from high BOE expectations for superintendents to execute leadership responsibilities within an allocated budget (Rapp et al., 2022). Though this position has grown in responsibility, the essence of its genesis can be observed throughout history.

Social Context

Superintendents are the top executive in most New York and United States districts. This position has long impacted towns, cities, and counties with the power to appoint teachers, settle discipline cases, and even seek to change district boundaries (Mowry, 1895; Rapp et al., 2022). More than a century ago, the expectation of this position was to contribute to educational periodicals and stay informed on the success or failure of educational experiments (Duties of a Superintendent of Schools, 1921). Since then, the role of the superintendent as a public administrator has been refashioned as a facilitator of community involvement, requiring social and interpersonal skills, including relationship building, conflict negotiation, and the ability to listen to and dialogue with school-community issues when weighing in on contemporary social issues (FitzGerald & Militello, 2016).

Public engagement requires social resources and skills, such as building trust and engagement, which can have vast social implications for the school community (Poynton et al., 2018). School leaders such as superintendents have an important role in cultivating problemsolving skills in other stakeholders (Friedman, 2011), underscoring the importance of social

connectedness and social relationship building. Aspiring superintendents can learn from veterans and promote the valuable transfer of information between both parties. When collaboration can occur between young and veteran school leaders, it bolsters the potential to increase achievement across the student body (Clayton et al., 2013).

An individual in an acting superintendent position must have the professional, innercircle social support to take on burdens (Henriksen & Aas, 2021) such as controversial socialpolitical issues in the districts they are serving. One of the social implications that comes with
superintendency is that they can impact the social dynamics of the administrative team that they
lead and broadly impact internal and external stakeholders, such as faculty, parents, students, and
district community members. Stakeholders may benefit from understanding the journey of a
school superintendent, particularly how they will impart their values and beliefs when making
decisions that directly impact the stakeholders. Knowing that leadership potential is of more
value than leadership performance can help hiring committees understand their potential biases
when interviewing (Player et al., 2019).

Another key social context is an individual's promotion pathway to the superintendent. When searching for leadership candidates, the level of diversity of those in the hiring pool can pose varying benefits and challenges to the hiring committee, depending on the dissimilarities between candidates (Žnidaršič et al., 2021). Similarities are generally found, with most candidates beginning as teachers and progressing through a low-to-mid-level administrative role, reaching district-level administration and then on to the apex of superintendency (Kim & Brunner, 2009). Though the path for many may appear similar, the rise to superintendency through the ranks of a school district can be heavily political, as the individual must foster fruitful relationships with internal and external stakeholders along the way (Paulsen et al., 2014).

BOE members and other community stakeholders must understand the pathway and intentions of those acquiring the position, which can be the impetus for great systemic change or pecuniary increases (Grissom & Mitani, 2016; Rapp et al., 2022).

Theoretical Context

The reason that a person moves into any new job position can vary greatly. Monetary gains, increases in health care benefits, rise in hierarchical social power, or resigning from an undesired position can all be motives for why a person seeks employment opportunities in other roles (Grissom & Andersen, 2012). Many individuals with administrative degrees in education choose not to leave their current positions to fill administrative roles (Davis et al., 2017). Individuals can be pushed or pulled into or from a position within an organization for many reasons. The researcher will examine the determinants of why an individual is pushed, pulled, or remains stationary in the superintendency from a school district standpoint. Moon (1995) revised the traditional idea of push-pull theory to include adding the mooring concept, which considers factors for why a person might resist migratory behavior (Lin et al., 2021). Push factors are typically the negative factors that steer individuals away from a role or profession, compared to pull factors which are primarily positive factors that pull employees into a new role that presents better working conditions and new opportunities (Bansal et al., 2005; Heffernan et al., 2022). The mooring factors within the PPM framework correlate to personal and social factors that cause individuals or employees to stay retain (Fan et al., 2021; Fu, 2011).

The push-pull-mooring framework is widely utilized in many industries to understand migration; it has been applied to consumerism, hospitality, and tourism (Choi & Park, 2020; Haldorai et al., 2019), but it has also been used extensively in the field of education relating to patterns of turnover in educators and administrators (Farley-Ripple et al., 2012; Heffernan et al.,

2022; Heffernan, 2021). Findings in Mombaers et al. (2023), who explored influential career choices among educational professionals, revealed that the leading factors of support, workload, autonomy, self-efficacy, general job motivation, and commitment to students to play a germane role in influencing the career choices of teachers and administrators. Motivation to influence school policy, positive relationships within the work environment, challenge and variety, and commitment to students have been determined to be significant pull factors for individuals to be pulled to an administrative position compared to push factors of workload, stress, lack of worklife balance, and extensive task range that keep educational professionals from advancing to administration positions such as school principal (Bass & Riggio, 2006; Howley et al., 2005; Shen et al., 1999).

Mombaers et al. (2023) expanded on the PPM theory in education as there are few studies that have examined the push, pull, and mooring factors of staying a teacher, and even less research on why individuals are push-pulled-moored into the executive role of superintendent. Literature on an individual's career pathway toward superintendency and what preceded these decisions is scarce, and even more scant is the research into the variables that cause an individual to remain in this position once they attain it (Kalbus, 2000). The researcher seeks to use the information in this study to contribute to the field by examining educational career pathways within the role of superintendent. As such, the theoretical context of the PPM theory guided the foundations of the interview questions and the analysis of responses to understand why individuals are willing to take on such demanding, challenging, and ambitious roles within a school district. This research can be extended into real-world applications for those interested in becoming a superintendent by summating the roles, responsibilities, education, and experiences an individual needs to attain and retain this position.

Problem Statement

The problem is that the experiences needed to obtain the role of school superintendent are not clearly defined, especially from the perspective of those who have acquired the position (Davis & Bowers, 2019). Thus, district BOE members do not have the knowledge to promote potential candidates towards those experiences, except for the required classes and tests New York State Education Department requires for proper certification. This lack of knowledge encompasses the unknow pushes toward and pulls away from public education as there are alternate educational opportunities within the educational career domain (Mombaers et al., 2023).

Investigating this topic and exploring the perceptions of individuals' experiences and how those experiences have influenced their push, pull, or stasis toward their career path is essential to close research gaps and further understand what experiences lead to the superintendency and how impactful those experiences may have been. In addition, examining the outcome data may enable others to make better career predictions when faced with potential next steps (Celine et al., 2020). Exploring what types of experiences, a successful superintendent has encountered and what decisions can lead to negative or positive systematic and cultural shifts within a district is essential (Shapira-Lishchinsky & Levy-Gazenfrantz, 2020). This line of research may be critical to BOE members and those involved in the school community in which superintendents serve.

Empirical and contextual limitations of previous research have included small sample sizes and research that focuses solely on why teachers become principals and do not extend upwards in the hierarchy to include superintendents (Davis & Bowers, 2019; Holmes Jr. et al., 2021). Gaps in previous research give reasoning as to why further exploration into how few

individuals reach the superintendent position is needed (Davis et al., 2017). Although this research will have a similar sample size and regionality limits, as other studies, it will add to the body of research regarding school superintendents and assist in narrowing the knowledge gap regarding the path to the superintendent position, which has been mostly absent from existing educational literature.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences an individual encounters on their journey to becoming a superintendent at a school district in New York. In this study, the journey to the school superintendency was defined as the path to gaining the certification, education, experience, and skills needed to attain a superintendent's position in public school district in New York. The goal of this study was to determine commonalities in lived experiences that have aided superintendents in acquiring and remaining this position in a school district.

Significance of the Study

The theoretical significance of this study lies in the link between the journey experienced over time to achieve what is needed to become a superintendent and the pulls that drive them toward that role. By examining the influential factors that an individual may see as advantageous or disadvantageous, it may be inferred what individual and contextual factors may be pushing or pulling a person in that position. Sawchuk (2022) discussed financial reasons, skill level expectations, stress, and workload; however, many other influential factors to the superintendency pathway may be undiscovered but may now be addressed by the current study. By understanding PPM factors that affect attaining this position or not, practical knowledge has

been gained and adds to the information about the quality and type of impact a superintendent can have on a school district.

Empirically, this study sought to add to the scant literature concerning an individual's journey to the superintendency. In general, few studies have offered insight into the rise to the superintendent position and what helped individuals attain it, resulting in a profound literature gap and creating an avenue for further research into this underexplored area (Davis & Bowers, 2019). Instead of focusing on the journey holistically, outdated research involves the gender and race profiles of superintendents (Kalbus, 2000). Previous studies have been narrowed in scope but additionally limited by population, sample size, and location, and data collection has been related to a specific region or small country. While the current study has taken place in a specific region, it examines additional research variables and answers key questions adding to the existing body of work for further exploration.

The practical value of the current study is to inform academic institutions and the research community about the pathways individuals have taken to superintendency and what actions and experiential events have kept them employed in that position. Though a superintendent does not directly instruct students, this person can heavily influence a district; they are its chief leader and carry forth its vision (Asada et al., 2021). The relevant information contained in the current study can help the many stakeholders produce and locate the best superintendents suited for that position. BOE members are responsible for securing the best leaders from top-tier candidates who can positively impact their students (Decman et al., 2018), while minimizing district costs and taxpayer implications. This process must be well-balanced in attracting top-quality superintendent candidates while maintaining competitive salary and benefits packages without fiscal impacts on the district's tax base. When compensation rates are

high in regions where taxes are high, the optics of the taxpayer-funded salary can reflect poorly on the position of the superintendent and the district's political landscape.

Research Questions

The lack of existing literature on school superintendency leads to key unanswered questions that will provide further contextual clarity to the executive role of the superintendent and the field of educational research. This research focused on qualitative interviews with superintendents in New York who answered questions linked to the central research and sub-research questions regarding district leaders lived experiences during their journey to becoming a superintendent. A semi-structured interview style facilitated conversation and gave the researcher opportunities for follow-up questions. It also provided opportunities for participants to expand on their thoughts regarding how they achieved their role in the school district. The central research question targeted the comprehensive journey towards superintendency. The sub-questions explore the origins, motivations, and other factors that impacted their journey and offer moments for participants to reflect on critical moments along their career path that have influenced their decisions.

Central Research Question

How do school district leaders describe their lived experiences during their journey to becoming a superintendent in New York?

Sub-Question One

What were the motivations and career goals superintendents set before entering the field of education in a school district?

Sub-Question Two

What are common pushes and pulls that lead educational professionals to pursue the

position of school superintendent?

Sub-Question Three

What experiences most prepared district leaders for the superintendent role?

Definitions

The following terms relate to the superintendency, leadership, or PPM theory.

- 1. *Journey* the career pathway a person takes, including the education, experiences, certifications, and skills gained to qualify them for a potential opportunity for a different role (Davis & Bowers, 2019).
- 2. *Push-Pull-Mooring (PPM) Theory* initially used to describe the migration of humans between two places, this theory has also been used to explain why consumers are drawn to and from retail organizations, as well as explain why employees are attracted to, from, or remain in a position within the organization that employs them (Kim et al., 2020; Ravenstein, 1885).
- 3. Superintendent the chief executive officer of a school district who is responsible for the safety and appropriate education of students, who proposes and manages the school budget, establishes clear goals and objectives to carry out the mission and the vision of the BOE, and leads the administrative team to support educators to provide appropriate instruction to students using the best pedagogical practices available (Grissom & Mitani, 2016).

Summary

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences an individual encounters on their journey to becoming a superintendent at a school district in New York. The problem is that the experiences needed to obtain the role of school

superintendent are not clearly defined, especially from the perspective of those who have acquired the position. The current study sought to deepen the limited understanding district stakeholders or educators seeking advancement have of the superintendent's lived experiences and functions in that role. This study aimed to understand a person's journey and the lived experiences an individual encounters when acquiring and carrying out the role of the superintendent for past and present superintendents in New York.

The institutional knowledge required to hold and be successful in the superintendent position can be formidable due to high expectations from various stakeholders within the district. Historically, this position has existed for over a century across different parts of the United States (New York State Education Department, 2021). Some of the many responsibilities and burdens that come with the title of superintendent can drive away top-qualified candidates. In contrast, other individuals may be driven toward this role based on a variety of factors. The PPM theory explains and demystifies the migration behaviors within the executive superintendent role to better understand why a person is drawn to, pushed towards, or remains in a superintendent position. More specifically, monetary gains, increases in health care benefits, rise in hierarchical social power, or resigning from an undesired position can all be motives for why a person seeks employment opportunities in other roles (Grissom & Andersen, 2012). Collegial relationships, challenge, and commitment to students have been explored as significant pull factors towards administrative positions compared to significant push factors of workload, stress, work-life balance, and task range, which have been previously explored as some determinants that keep educational professionals from advancing to administrative positions (Bass & Riggio, 2006; Howley et al., 2005; Mombaers et al., 2023).

The obligations, skill level, social resources, and skill set needed to be a superintendent may be push factors for some individuals but pull factors for others (Henriksen & Aas, 2021; Poynton et al., 2018). When weighed against compensation packages and the ability to positively impact student lives and the educational system, these factors can alternatively be the incentives and considerations that pull others into this role. Nevertheless, other uninvestigated variables may be present on an individual's journey to the role of superintendency which has been unexplored in educational literature. These factors may be of significant interest to those seeking the position and those attempting to procure or locate the top-qualified candidates that will exemplify the executive superintendent role and the impact they may subsequently have as a school district leader.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

To understand the journey and lived experiences an individual encounters when acquiring and remaining in the role of a superintendent, this chapter will examine and connect the overarching theoretical framework and provide empirical relationships to the purpose of the current study. The literature review begins by describing the PPM, its evolution, and how it can be applied to the role of the superintendency. Leadership skills and theories that are paramount to the role of the superintendent include strategies, methods, and techniques that contribute to the success or failure in acquiring a position as a district leader (Addi-Raccah, 2015; Asada et al., 2021; Hardy & Salo, 2022). The literature review then conceptualizes variables that explain why an individual may aspire to reach the superintendent position and the complexities that go with it. Individual traits such as egoism, narcissism, leadership styles, and emotional intelligence (EI) are discussed as they are integral components of an individual as they journey towards and live the experiences of a superintendent (Grissom & Mitani, 2016; Kamrath, 2022). The literature review concludes with a review of potential obstacles, challenges, and failures associated with the superintendency.

Theoretical Framework

One of the most frequently used theoretical paradigms, push-pull polarity, was initially developed by Ravenstein (1885) to describe human migratory experiences (Cohen, 1996).

Ravenstein's (1885) seminal papers generalized into several "laws of migration" that attempted to account for an array of migration variables such as distances, stages, transportation, economics, and motives and concluded that migration is guided by a push-pull force that drives individuals from unfavorable conditions and pushes individuals out, while favorable conditions in another

location pull individuals in (Passaris, 1989). Lee (1966) restated and reformulated Ravenstein's (1885) push-pull theory, positing that migration is selective and built on Ravenstein's postulations to include other factors, individual characteristics, personal responses to "plus" and "minus" factors at origins and destinations, and individual's differing abilities to cope with these variables (De Haas, 2010; Reniers, 1999).

More recent models of human migration include cognitive-behavioral facets in which individuals make conscious decisions to migrate based on more than economic considerations (Hagen-Zanker, 2008). Moon (1995) coupled the "mooring effect" to the push-pull theory and presented the PPM model. Mooring effect factors can encourage or discourage an individual's migration decision (Gupta & Garg, 2021). Further, Lin and Wu (2021) applied the PPM model widely to food safety decisions demonstrating the versatility of the PPM design as a useful and functional theoretical paradigm extending to various daily life activities. Fu (2011) utilized the push-pull mooring framework in a study investigating important antecedents of career commitment, viewing a career as a virtual place to stay and a career change as a migratory decision.

Push-Pull Theory

There are many variations of the push-pull theory postulated throughout the years; however, the push-pull theory of migration, first developed by E. G. Ravenstein, proposed several laws of migration (Grigg, 1977). The most significant contribution to the theory of migration explained that the contributing factors to migration could be categorized in two ways: factors that pushed individuals out of their current residence and factors that pulled them out. Modern-day studies have expanded on Ravenstein's work and applied this theory to broad contemporary issues such as employment performance, food safety, career commitment, and

entrepreneurship (Benson & Rissing, 2020; Fu, 2011; Lin & Wu, 2021). Removing the term migration from the push-pull theory and replacing it with the movement of school leadership, specific school leadership positions and why an individual may be driven towards or away from a school principalship have been examined (Boyce & Bowers, 2016). The factors that push an individual from a position may differ uniquely from the effects of being pulled from a position and provide some understanding of the complexities of school administrator career paths when examining retention, turnover, and mobility (Farley-Ripple et al., 2012).

Push-Pull-Mooring Turnover Theory

Since the push-pull theory did not fully account for all migratory behaviors of individuals, Moon (1995) incorporated important social, personal, and cultural factors into the previous push-pull theory, offering a further explanation of why a person may or may not resist migratory behavior (Bansal et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2021). Moorings may be personal or cultural in their impact on facilitating or hampering individuals switching or migratory behavior (Bansal et al., 2005; Gupta & Garg, 2021). Heffernan (2021) applied mooring to the push-pull turnover theory explaining that school principals often remain in their positions because of personal factors rather than organizational ones. Personality traits, such as humility, and those who tend to exhibit a healthy amount of humility within their tenure tend to remain or be moored into their position longer (Wang et al., 2022).

Push, Pull, and Mooring Factors

Push factors have generally negative implications and are typically unfavorable conditions where an individual is compelled to move away from a destination (Gupta & Garg, 2021; Lee, 1966). Misplacement of administrators in positions they are not well-suited for by those hiring them can be another relevant push factor (Grissom et al., 2019). In contrast, pull

factors attract an employee to a position from elsewhere due to perceived positive benefits or advantages in the new destination (Gupta & Garg, 2021; Lee, 1966). Higher compensation can be an example of a pull factor, and organizations have been encouraged to make these offerings with fiscal responsibility (Rahmandad & Ton, 2020).

Mooring factors add the third and final dimension to the PPM theory (Moon, 1995). Mooring factors include job satisfaction, adequate compensation, or supportive relationships with upper administrators and district decision-makers (Cieminski, 2018). Push, pull, and mooring factors can change with individual situations and can be influenced by controllable and uncontrollable factors (Kirkwood, 2009). Pay satisfaction can be listed as a push, pull, or mooring factor, which can undoubtedly be an impetus for change or remain in a position if a person feels they are inadequately or adequately compensated for their work (Sawchuk, 2022). Thus, the PPM theory will be used when analyzing the reasons participants sought and attained their positions as superintendents of schools.

Related Literature

Though the majority of previous studies on school leadership have explained its impact on learning, most studies on school leadership focus on classroom teaching; there has been limited research into the superintendency and the lived experiences an individual has on their journey to this position (Leithwood et al., 2020). While turnover is not explicitly examined in the current study, why a person is pushed, pulled, or remains in this position is explored. Investigating how and why an individual attains the superintendency position through a qualitative lens is a much-needed avenue of research (Davis & Bowers, 2019).

Leadership Styles

The acquisition of leadership skills is essential to the role of a superintendent. It provides

a context to understand how they will make school district decisions and provide educational opportunities for students. Leadership styles of superintendents are a vastly complex subject that has been heavily researched (Avolio, 2007; D'Souza & Gurin, 2016; Pielstick, 1998). Service delivery systems needed today for stakeholders require different leadership styles to implement changes required in the district that the superintendent serves and widely differ from the system needs in the past (Hodge & Larwin, 2020). Leadership model styles such as instrumental, change, servant, transformational, and adaptive leadership can all be linked to effective practices and cover a broad range of leadership traits school leaders must display effective practices to improve school districts and overall student achievement (Kiral, 2020). Conversely, poor leadership skills and styles, intentional and unintentional ethical and unethical decisions hinder leadership ability, increase employee turnover, create a detrimental workplace culture, and reduce outcomes (Mo & Shi, 2015).

Having a strong leader in the position of superintendent has an array of impacts that are not only on students or faculty but also on the community (Webner et al., 2017). The superintendent must navigate political issues within the community, BOE members, faculty, and student body and be equipped with versatile leadership skills that potentially pull from various leadership styles. Superintendents' challenges often define their role as they are expected to cover comprehensive and extensive management-related and leadership-related responsibilities (Przybylski et al., 2018). A meta-analysis of the roles that United States superintendents are expected to perform revealed that district-level leadership and student achievement mattered most (Waters & Marzano, 2006). More specifically, superintendents are expected to establish district conditions such as curricular, instructional, and assessment practices, improve student achievement, control resources, supervise personnel, organize operations, inspire people, foster

coalitions, and implement programs from state and federal direction (Bredeson & Kose, 2007; Rallis et al., 2006). Successful superintendents are creative motivators, facilitators, and implementors of change (Przybylski et al., 2018). Superintendents must be adept and creative at navigating political issues within the community, the BOE, faculty, and student body.

Instrumental Leadership

Though there are many leadership models, instrumental leadership would have superintendents exhibit the ability to set tasks, develop plans, execute, and provide feedback to their teams (Antonakis & House, 2014). As leadership has been studied frequently over many years, labels such as transformational or charismatic are popular, but many theories are found in top leadership positions (Dinh et al., 2014; Meuser et al., 2016). Instrumental leadership is essential to note because, unlike other leadership types, this speaks to the need for leadership to have the ability to evaluate, train and establish goals aside from the ability to influence others (Antonakis & House, 2014). This leadership style emphasizes a leader's knowledge, not just interpersonal or political skills.

Change Leadership

As potential or future superintendents strategize, set goals, and think of scenarios when reaching their position of power, they must address how they will approach the community and stakeholders along with their perceptions of the status quo and the conflict that comes from the interaction between each (Fusarelli, 2006). Regardless of hardship, adversity, and disdain within an organization, changing the status quo can be challenging though there may be no foreseeable advantages to staying with it (Bekir & Doss, 2020). However, the status quo in education has changed even within particular departments within a district, such as music (Odegaard, 2017). Change leadership author John Kotter (2012) explained how leaders must establish urgency,

create guiding coalitions, produce clear visions and strategies, and effectively communicate incentives for change to break the status quo and steer organizations in a better direction.

Understating how to incentivize and create motivation for change is essential in a superintendent's role, as board members look to incorporate academic goals into contracts more than in previous years (Maranto et al., 2017).

Servant Leadership

The servant leadership style incorporates the empathic requirements of a leader and assists in the role of superintendent (Webner et al., 2017). With any leadership style, it is crucial to understand that individuals are the most valuable resource because, without individuals, there is nothing to lead. As a superintendent, it is imperative to understand how the individuals comprising district staff and faculty become valuable resources, as they can be instrumental in achieving outcomes within departments and buildings (Jennings & Stahl-Wert, 2016). This grouping of individuals will likely have official leaders, such as administrators, or unofficial leaders, such as strong teachers and assistants, who participate in unifying the team towards their goals, by maximizing their output through several facets, including intellectually and ethically (Eva et al., 2019). Though individuals are selected for leadership positions for different reasons, a superintendent can provide for the district to establish a functional hierarchy amongst the different buildings, departments, and stakeholders.

As a servant leader, the superintendent is a dedicated member of the district and supports individuals helping remove obstacles and building on each member's strengths while driving a greater purpose derived from the BOE (Jennings & Stahl-Wert, 2016). One common misconception is that leaders are selected because of skill area; however, Jennings and Stahl-Wert (2016) indicate that the most skilled individual will not be the most effective leader.

Instead, Jennings and Stahl-Wert (2016) suggested that individuals are most likely to become the most effective leaders when they understand that people are the most valuable resource and support, encourage, and improve opportunities for success rather than give directives. Leadership traits of humbleness, empathy, and a keen ability to identify struggles, issues and tap a team's strengths will result in a higher likelihood of achieving rigorous goals (Bass, 2000; Sendjaya et al., 2008). Superintendents are often charged with achieving specific goals, which BOE members generate from personal experience or community pressure from stakeholders.

As a servant leader, a superintendent will gain influence among staff and faculty and the community they serve. Superintendent influence can be found in various circumstances, for instance, when a superintendent assists school principals to ensure they are about to carry out the expectations of the local education authorities (Addi-Raccah, 2015). Influence can also be gained through a more holistic approach to leadership, which describes several interactive elements to foster the greatest success for each member (Eva et al., 2019). These elements may be ethical, emotional, or spiritual avenues for those striving to be the most effective superintendent (Eva et al., 2019). Emphasizing and prioritizing members' growth, well-being, and development subsequently improves engagement and work effectiveness, and servant superintendents see members' value and seek to grow this resource.

Jennings and Stahl-Wert (2016) used a visualization of the servant leadership model, depicting it as an upside-down triangle or pyramid, where the *why* is the basis of the foundation at the bottom. In model superintendents would be serving others', running to great purpose, development, and growth. The four layers that build on a leader's why of upending the pyramid are when the leader goes from the paramount position atop the hierarchy to that below in supporting it, thus becoming a servant leader. In the upended pyramid, superintendents raise the

bar, challenging students, faculty, and staff to strive towards rigorous goals while they, along with others, blaze the trail, removing obstacles from these groups as best as possible. The top layer of servant leadership has the leader building on each member's strengths to foster the highest success or output for each person and, as a result, the team together. In this last step, superintendents, as the leader of leaders in a school district, empower their members with what they need, bolstering positive effects throughout the membership, which enhances innovation and strengthens the decision-making process for all involved (Hassi, 2019). The superintendent serves while leading to transform subordinate leaders, staff, and faculty into something more than they were previously.

Superintendents have a variety of whys ranging from personal and self-derived or a charge from an outside entity such as students or the BOE. If a superintendent's levels of leadership are strong, their district likely enacts best educational practices to bolster improvement throughout (Bird et al., 2013). The superintendent serves while leading to transform subordinate leaders, staff, and faculty into something more than they were previously, as they take on risks, make mistakes, and turn these into valuable learning experiences (Jennings & Stahl-Wert, 2016).

Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership is often compared and contrasted with transactional leadership in educational literature, frequently regarded as two ends of a single continuum (Judge & Piccolo, 2004). However, they have fundamental differences that are easily observed through action and behavior (Hyseni Duraku & Hoxha, 2021), and similar to servant leadership, the name is closely linked to what defines transformational leadership. Transactional leadership models restrict change, while transformational leadership utilizes resources and relationships for

successful educational leaders (Hoy & Miskel, 2005). Transformational leaders lead by having members adopt the leader's transitionary or transformational goals (Bass, 1999; Bush, 2018), and this style of leadership impacts job performance and motivation. In combination with transactional leadership (i.e., leadership member exchange), transformational leadership gives the flexibility to change relationships with team members in real-time rather than just perceptions and attitudes (Ng, 2017). If success is going to be an actuality, relationships between the superintendent and the individual or group must be fostered as they strive toward a shared vision. For instance, a superintendent leading with a transformational leadership style will broadcast these behaviors to instructional leadership, which members will pick up and demonstrate, thus increasing student outcomes (Kwan, 2020).

Transformational leadership can be linked to servant leadership, as both styles strive for change. However, like many other leadership strategies, transformational leaders can veer towards unethical behavior that does not support team members and may sabotage the team or organization's goals and interests (Hoch et al., 2018). Despite this caution, leaders should not assume that all transformational mindsets are negative. Transformational leadership requires that those in charge do more than quantitative changes but also work on qualitative changes within themselves and team members (Burns, 2003). Burns (1978) also noted the importance of integrity and fairness when setting clear goals, encouraging others, and supporting team members as a hallmark of transformational leadership.

Several essential areas mentioned above for a transformational leader to hold onto are similar to those in servant leadership. Support and encouragement of others and setting clear goals and expectations could all be subsumed within the steps of Jennings and Stahl-Wert's (2016) upside-down servant leader pyramid. Transformational and servant leadership must be

compared to one another when examining how to lead educational teams effectively.

Superintendents can also be flexible and take on several leadership styles when adjusting and adapting to new challenges presented by day-to-day changes within educational organizations, entities, and the community they serve.

Adaptive Leadership

Adaptive leadership is a leadership approach in which a leader helps those in an organization flourish under challenging circumstances, directing individuals toward a collective purpose rising above individual ambition (Heifetz et al., 2009). The defining feature of adaptive leadership is the distinction between technical and adaptive issues. Heifetz and Linsky (2017) described technical issues as those that are serious and should not be underestimated, but the solutions are found within the organization and its capabilities. Adaptive issues require the team or organization to change as they do not possess the skillset, materials, or knowledge, thus requiring adaptation (Heifetz & Linsky, 2017). Just as transformational and servant leadership styles use their names as adjectives, adaptive leadership also does the same.

Adaptive leadership traits can assist those aspiring to upper-level leadership positions, such as the superintendent of schools. The status quo may need to be altered mildly or severely, and adaptive traits like developing a vision are essential, or the leader attempting to facilitate change will yield little performance in their favor (Adnan & Valliappan, 2019). Though a vision is just one task under an adaptive leadership style, it can build momentum and pave the way to empower employees, which can foster the success of an organizational initiative (Adamovic et

al., 2020). Aspiring superintendents can use adaptive leadership skills to lead teachers and other support staff to take on meaningful professional development (Boylan, 2018).

The object of having adaptive leadership skills in a position of power is to positively impact whatever outcome is set by the district or organization (Heifetz & Linsky, 2017). Suppose a school leader displays interpersonal skills and empathy toward others and acknowledges the mental well-being of individuals. In that case, they signal that a workplace is a place of safety, positively impacting workplace outcomes (Kock et al., 2019). Heifetz and Linsky's (2017) first step of getting on the balcony can help those aspiring to higher-level leadership positions gauge the needs of employees and garner a better understanding of the workplace to begin establishing an adaptive strategy that increases the chances of organizational success. During the COVID-19 pandemic, getting on the balcony to address the needs of others were demonstrated through the plans superintendents were required to create, follow, implement, and enforce governmental policy and procedure. Government healthcare entities have been tied to school districts more than ever, requiring superintendents to foster relationships with these organizations to protect students, staff, and their districts (Rubin, 2020). More than ever, superintendents oversee wellness and health policies for all attending school buildings (Asada et al., 2021). Navigating such volatile conversations requires leaders skilled in managerial traits who can stand back to assess and reassess situations and adapt to the ever-changing landscape and challenges.

It is difficult for those attempting to hire a leader to foresee prior to leaders standing on the proverbial balcony. Biases, prejudice, and other negative attributes can impact an organization, especially those in higher-powered and likely higher-paid positions. Better organizational outcomes from a hiring process will result from improving the hiring discretion and finding less biased leaders (Hoffman et al., 2018). Those on the journey to superintendency

should also assess their personal views and unconscious biases and use the interview process to assess the biases in the environment they are seeking employment.

When leaders can adapt to situations, it displays their ability to problem-solve outside of the box, demonstrating adaptive skills. Adaptive leadership encourages leaders to seek information from their team members and outside stakeholders to develop a strategy that the team can enact, which is not currently practiced within the organization (Garavaglia et al., 2021). Functionally, adaptive leadership has been linked directly to servant leadership. The unknowns that organizations face require change within departments and teams supported by leaders who are comfortable in these situations of rapid change and can empower their membership to take charge while building on their strengths, bolsters results (Valeras & Cordes, 2020).

Skills and Traits in Superintendency

Skills and traits are the building blocks for successful professional leadership enterprises, and they are often used interchangeably because of the undeniable connection between the two concepts. However, there are some key well-known differences. Traits often refer to qualities and characteristics that an individual is endowed with; however, to reach potential, additional skills are necessary (Kirkpatick & Locke, 1991). It is well thought out that key leadership traits help a leader acquire the necessary skills to carry out a vision, plan, and execution of their plan. Skills and traits serve and form the foundation for acquiring any new knowledge, be it personal or professional. Since the tasks and functions of a superintendent vary significantly between school districts, it may often be challenging to generalize skillsets and trait characteristics of the best leadership by school board members during the hiring selection process.

Skills in Superintendency

Skills for the superintendency are vast but can be categorized as an extensive skillset

critical to superintendent success. The superintendent can be the person making the ultimate decision where teachers, students, parents, or other stakeholders may not be happy and require a response that has a negative perception. Skills can be narrower than traits and involve actions such as decision-making, problem-solving, and performance appraisal (Kirkpatick & Locke, 1991). Self-awareness, moral integrity, relational transparency, and balanced processing are skills that current superintendents should exude and are foundational in the authentic leadership style (Bird & Wang, 2013). As many community members and other district stakeholders seek transparency, authentic leadership can be a powerful leadership style for current superintendents. The superintendent role requires skills such as being an effective manager, teacher-scholar, political leader, scientist-practitioner, and strong communicator (Björk et al., 2014).

Additionally, being a superintendent requires strong organizational skills and commitment (Sergiovanni, 1982; Sullivan & Shulman, 2005).

Since the superintendent serves as both manager and leader, additional skills such as enforcing rules and guidelines, controlling the flow of budgetary materials and human resources, and the knowledge and application of skills for continuous school improvement are needed (Kowalski, 2006; Sullivan & Shulman, 2005). The role of the superintendent has grown into a more instructional and information technology leader who must be connected to the community. Information technology skills are needed now, more than ever, with the integration of the internet and social media platforms that connect stakeholders. The position also requires strong coping skills and strong social resources (Ledesma, 2014), yet there is some overlap with internal traits such as positive self-esteem, self-efficacy, optimism, adaptability, determination, and the ability to focus (Conner, 1993; Kotter, 2012; Ledesma, 2014), which can be considered innate but shaped by lived and professional experiences. For instance, communication will be essential

and is typically a skill honed in other leadership positions. However, those on the journey can break the mold and disseminate information inter-departmentally versus the typical intradepartmental conveyances of lower- and mid-level management (Norqvist & Ärlestig, 2020).

Traits in Superintendency

Potential leaders should be aware of the connection between leadership theories and how personality, which may include ego, impacts decisions at the executive level, such as the superintendent (Holmes Jr et al., 2021). Literature on what traits superintendents may possess include terms such as motivated and competitive and may also embody the ability to hustle with a good heart and have a sense of humor under great humility (Roberts et al., 2012). Similar traits, such as motivation and determination, are essential to have as a superintendent, but another crucial trait is to take ownership over the actions of themselves and others within the organization (Wang et al., 2022). The traits of superintendents help track the accomplishments or failure of those within the position who may find specific traits critical to success where others are detrimental. Hiring members on the committee should also be familiar with a least some basic leadership traits, including those of a new generation filling higher-level leadership roles (Anderson et al., 2017).

Another important personality trait closely related to cognitive ability is EI, which is closely tied to how leaders perform their required roles. It is affiliated with transformational leadership styles and involves how a leader influences others (Görgens-Ekermans & Roux, 2021). Although EI is not a specific trait or skill set in and of itself, there have been positive correlations between an individual's leadership style and self-efficacy (Halliwell et al., 2022). Adaptive, transformational, and authentic leadership encompass domains in which EI may play a

role. For superintendents, EI can help make difficult decisions and be an agent of change; however, how staff and faculty perceive them impacts student outcomes (Goldring et al., 2015). A superintendent with higher EI is likely to have increased self-efficacy and be apt to complete goals they are striving towards as directed by the BOE (Halliwell et al., 2022). While this study will not precisely measure the EI quotient, EI is considered part of the superintendent selection process by hiring committees and, therefore, it is essential to note.

More loosely related to personality traits, religiosity has also been found in leadership roles and often studied as a personality construct, as 75% of people in the United States have some form of religious faith (Pew Research Center, 2014). Those with religious faith in leadership roles rely on their beliefs, which impacts how a person influences others (Hage & Posner, 2015). Leadership theory, religion, spirituality, or some of each, help leaders establish a firm foundation before they can take on the changes of whatever role they acquire (Heifetz & Linsky, 2017). Though employers cannot inquire about a person's religious faith during the hiring process or while employed, religiosity and their accompanying beliefs will, nonetheless, impact the organization for which they are hired.

It is common for employees, or those working with leaders, to express the negative traits associated with those in charge with words such as egotistical, narcissistic, or self-centered.

Nevertheless, other forms of ego, such as quiet ego, can be a positive trait as it describes how a person balances understanding the needs of oneself and others (Buonomo et al., 2021). Quiet ego can assist superintendents in understanding the dynamics between stakeholders and BOE members, building administration and faculty, and department chair-people and teachers to assist in making optimal decisions for the district. The ego can be a mixed blessing, taking an individual down a poor decision path. However, if maturely developed, the ego can provide

viewing situations from different perspectives, which can later impact a superintendent's success.

The School Superintendency

Attaining high-level educational positions can be difficult as several factors impact selection, such as student achievement, empathizing genuinely, and communicating effectively (Davis, 1998). Limited research focuses on the superintendent selection process (Glass, 2001); however, the skills, qualifications, competencies, experience, and past performance levels influence the path toward the superintendency and serve as push or pull factors in various circumstances. Wallace (2003) indicated that there are many factors and considerations for selecting a superintendent; the consideration of candidate qualifications and objective criteria such as experience, leadership skills, management skills, communication skills, board and community relationships, and management of resources is essential when selecting a potential superintendent candidate. These aforementioned objective candidate criteria may be related to more external factors regarding candidate selection; other factors that may influence candidate selection could be internal to the organization, such as political factors that prevent a specific individual from advancing to the superintendency. According to Kalbus (2000), a current superintendent may act as an external pull factor for a potential superintendent candidate. Other factors may also contribute to internal push or pull factors, such as a candidate weighing the likelihood of attaining the position throughout the selection process. Many more internal and external factors may be revealed when uncovering a superintendent's various lived experiences and provide great insight to those who have yet to operate in the capacity of an executive-level leadership role.

Educational Requirements

Potential superintendents may hold the certification needed to take on the position.

However, the question for hiring committees is, are these people qualified to take on the lead position in a district successfully? During the selection process, BOE members or hiring firms will look to fit previous experiences and years of experience into the district's profile rather than examining the candidate's actual leadership qualities and skills (Davis & Bowers, 2019). Therefore, the path to a superintendent position should include leadership training, as they will be responsible for a multimillion-dollar organization with hundreds and thousands of members and stakeholders. The experiences of school superintendents do not usually include leadership training or experience as an educator, thus making the selection process difficult for hiring committees.

Experiences

Those with the appropriate education and certifications needed to become a superintendent may take extra caution and consider the responsibilities in attaining this position, as the responsibilities are substantial and span many roles within the organization. Many studies agree that gender and race disproportionalities within the position across the United States exist (Petersen et al., 2008; White, 2021). Regardless of the belief in race or gender being the factor in why a person may be pushed towards, pulled to, or remain in a superintendent's position, these factors are heavily weighted in United States society and can impact the personal beliefs of a superintendent or those hiring and are important to acknowledge. However, race and gender will be noted but not overtly sought out as part of the considerations for this study on the reasons that superintendents are in their position.

Striving Towards Success

The breadth of leadership literature focuses on the many different ways of motivating others, making positive changes, and ensuring desired outcomes. Superintendents are the top

leaders in the school district's hierarchy and must be a guiding force toward achieving the goals set to strive towards the mission and vision set by decision-makers. Within organizations, individuals move to and from positions, and this internal movement may result in immediate productivity impacts compared to bringing in applicants from outside of the organization (Benson & Rissing, 2020). According to Carter and Cunningham (1997), those who have moved to become effective superintendents share common attributes: innovation, implementation, and strategic planning ability by incorporating priorities with goals to achieve desired outcomes. A superintendent must broadly serve the masses within district bounds and, therefore, they may choose servant leadership using the view that to be successful, they must serve many by serving a few (Jennings & Stahl-Wert, 2016). Servant leadership is just one of the strategies those in charge can use to support their team's effectiveness.

Several other leadership strategies can be effective and even quite similar to servant leadership in one or more ways. To be effective, superintendents must operate at different levels and align the skills of administrative and faculty members to meet the challenges they face (Wheelan et al., 2021). Effective superintendents play a variety of roles on many levels: integrator, observer, and learner; they bring together groups of members, deliver critical feedback, and they must quickly learn from successes or failures (Vilkinas et al., 2020). Using adaptive leadership skills, a superintendent can quickly identify these levels using the metaphor get off the dance floor and go up to the balcony, representing operating at the many different levels (Heifetz & Linsky, 2017). To be a positive force and succeed, a superintendent must leverage their power by serving their direct team members while stepping back to observe and reflect on the situation and steer the district to the best course of action.

As for must in education, leading to success is a primary goal, which is just as crucial for

superintendents to remember. Education leaders may possess various leadership skills and styles, some of which have been expanded upon previously. However, two themes in educational leadership literature were noted: the promotion of stakeholder-centered leadership and leadership that encourages the needed change (Preston & Barnes, 2017). Key characteristics of a dozen successful school systems were combined so that educational leaders could change their school system into an open systems model, which recognizes inputs, the transformation of inputs, outputs, and feedback loops (Gurr et al., 2022). Successful school leaders are essential to districts as their impact is only surpassed by the educators delivering direct instruction to the student body (Bush, 2021).

Leadership skills that emphasize a person-centered or humanistic approach tend to raise the bar for students and staff with this leadership style and have even been shown to significantly impact students' character education (Effendi et al., 2020). To meet the large-scale demands for managing and leading actions with the array of complexities present in contemporary school districts, successful superintendents utilize a person-centered, consultative leadership style now more than ever (Björk, 1993; Björk et al., 2018). Improvements to the system that superintendents operate within can come from an in-depth understanding of the educational system and the stakeholders' influence and role. Leadership that needs to understand individuals in their organization will achieve little to no success (Bolman & Deal, 2017). At the superintendent level of leadership, success is found when an individual in charge can conceptualize how their personality and others can combine for the betterment of the district (Pillay & April, 2022). Pillay and April conversely found that when viewing the workplace through different lenses for analysis, leaders were much less successful as it improved their reflection, growth, and expansion of skills.

The number of literature reviews of successful school principal leadership styles is far more common than reviews of successful school superintendents within the study of the United States educational system. While the practices of effective and successful principals were more frequently and initially studied (Björk, 1993), the instructional leadership roles where superintendents can use their bureaucratic positions to lead improvements can both be examples for aspiring superintendents. Successful principals create a vision and enlist the right team to collaborate on the school's direction by providing professional development, being innovative, and including internal and external stakeholders as change agents (Ylimaki et al., 2022). If a superintendent is familiar with how successful principals run a school building, they can be more prepared to support a principal leadership style to support the success of their district's common goal.

Another comparison drawn in educational literature exists between CEOs and superintendents and how they both aspire to deliver success by understanding the environment in which they operate. This understanding is essential to a superintendent's success, as without that understanding, even the best of changes can end with stakeholders looking to rejoice in the resignation of the district's top leader (Baxter et al., 2019). The superintendent candidate must navigate what a free and appropriate public education (FAPE) represents to the stakeholders they serve. One way a superintendent must understand the environment in which they operate is when defining what FAPE means in their community. For example, as schools move past issues faced due to COVID-19, many schools have provided each student with an electronic device, and some may consider removing this device a denial of FAPE (Hozien, 2019). Litigation over denial of FAPE may contribute to a lack of perceived superintendent success.

The financial environment is also vital to the success of a superintendent. The environment can provide information, funding, and resources to their district. A person must have the wherewithal to withstand pressure and distress, which can come from several environmental angles and negatively impact the leader's role (Stelmach et al., 2021). Since 2019, superintendents have had to navigate a menagerie of potential options to educate their students differently when state and federal mandates have required restrictions to ensure all safety because of COVID-19 (Rubin, 2020). The division observed in the media is apparent at BOE meetings, where stakeholders argue both sides of mandates placed on a district, especially regarding the students. That atmosphere provides a volatile environment and requires grit, determination, and a focus on long-term goals with short-term wins to be a successful leader or superintendent (Caza & Posner, 2019).

The success of a superintendent can be measured in an abundance of ways.

Technological proficiency is one-way superintendent success can be measured, as those implementing technological innovations within a district are successful (Sterrett & Richardson, 2019). The amount of trust a superintendent can be given is another measure of success as it correlates with a strong district and community (Benna & Hambacher, 2022). Eventually, however, the yardstick of success typically returns directly to impact the students, as over 70% of interviewed parents felt that stability in a superintendent would lead to school and student success (Kamrath, 2022).

BOE Impact on Superintendents

School boards are elected officials subject to public pressure and must remain present by engaging with stakeholders in the community (Piscitelli et al., 2022). Much research has demonstrated the connection that the success of school districts is contingent on the relationships

between the board and the superintendent (Björk, 1993; Carter & Cunningham, 1997; Kowalski, 2006). Available research points to the fact that school superintendent leadership is vital for change and improvement (Björk, 1993); therefore, it stands to reason that selecting a superintendent is a pivotal action the BOE performs for the success of the district and the community. The selection of a superintendent is just as important as the monitoring of this person and the school budget (Bartanen et al., 2018). Board members must be aware of the multidimensional functions required by contemporary superintendents and recognize vital characteristics essential to superintendent success. Since there have been limited investigations describing the nature of superintendent searches and the factors that are involved in their selection processes (Wallace, 2003), it seems reasonable that understanding how a superintendent reached their position can furnish BOE members with more information and help them better select stronger and more successful candidates that have the best fit for their district.

In addition to the stress of a typical executive-level position coupled with the new environment in which they operate, superintendents are often confronted by the expectations of the BOE they serve. The expectations can change depending on the locality, but overall, it typically can be described as the management of personnel and funds to ensure the highest levels of student success (Rapp et al., 2022). Though BOE members describe these expectations, other skills, such as instructional leadership, are needed as they permeate the building level (Whitt et al., 2015). High demands are placed on the superintendent, assuming they are masters of all specific areas they are responsible for, which is nearly impossible. Instead, BOE members and hiring committees of superintendents should also evaluate the team the superintendent candidate will lead and understand how the candidate's strengths and weaknesses impact the team's strengths and weaknesses.

The superintendent's influence reaches the building level into the classroom, which potential candidates should understand well through their coursework. When the superintendent or BOE members make a decision, they must weigh out the effects on students, understand how stakeholders from the community can be involved, and be able to describe how it aligns with the school's mission statement (Decman et al., 2018). When decisions are made without these considerations, a superintendent may observe public pushback resulting in the BOE placing responsibility on the superintendent for political preservation.

It is vital to back decisions with data to ensure they align with BOE decisions and not result in a district's culture downturn (Superville, 2020). Less than adequate relationships with school board members can result in a higher rate of turnover in the superintendent's seat (Grissom & Andersen, 2012). Navigating the political environment within a school district is a survival skill superintendents need.

Overall, a superintendent's success may not be found in their accomplishments, which can be counterintuitive to what is typically noted when measuring success. The topic of the school superintendent and school board relationships has been cited in education literature, and many studies have cited the relationship between the superintendent and school board determines the superintendent's rate of success or failure (Alsbury, 2003). Therefore, superintendents must foster positive relationships and avoid toxic relationships with members to ensure success.

Regardless of its impact, success can be reduced to insignificant actions if toxic relationships are fueled (Flood & Angelle, 2022). Minimizing the negative impacts of poor relationships while fostering relationships with the BOE members throughout a superintendent's time in that role can determine how effective a superintendent can be.

Challenges in the Leadership Role

As a person takes on and endures the stress of being a superintendent, numerous factors can result in failure. This position is the most politically aligned hired position in the school district aside from the elected BOE members who hold the superintendent accountable (Maranto et al., 2017). An individual needs to understand the politics of the BOE and the community they serve to be more likely to succeed in the position. The misalignment of the superintendent's and BOE's authentic leadership skills can increase the probability of political disarray and sabotage relationships, negatively impacting the district they serve (Shapira-Lishchinsky & Levy-Gazenfrantz, 2020) and drives home the importance of researching the district and its BOE before accepting the position.

To avoid failure, a superintendent must know how they are evaluated directly by the BOE and indirectly by internal and external stakeholders. A perceived failure on evaluation must be carefully examined by those seeking an adverse action due to that poor evaluation. Even when each BOE member uses a rubric to assess a superintendent, conflicting results may occur for various reasons, including but not limited to motivations for seeking a BOE position (Henrikson, 2021). Thus, a superintendent must be cognizant of more than their pitfalls but also those of the people they lead and serve.

Candidates for superintendents should consider the expectations and goals that BOE would have them implement and their alignment to their own specific goals they would potentially set for the district. Misalignment of goals, priorities, or funding can lead to increased potential for turnover among superintendents who take on positions that are lower paid and display lower achievement for students (Grissom & Mitani, 2016). Avoiding a role in a lower-achieving district should not be a consideration; properly aligning district expectations and goals

with data and benchmarks to track success is critical for professional continuity and superintendent retention. BOE members should examine compensation, especially in rural or low-achieving areas, to reduce the turnover of people in the superintendent's position and entice highly qualified professionals to their districts (Grissom & Mitani, 2016). There is no basis for the assertion that those who are paid more will succeed more; however, the reason why a person is compensated more may speak to their level of success in previous roles. Overall, setting expectations and goals is crucial to avoid failure where possible.

Job-Specific Factors Along the Pathway to Superintendent

The following sections will describe other determinant factors and variables that influence superintendents along their career pathway before becoming a superintendent while employed and their decisions to stay, leave, or remain in this position. When differentiating between a push and a pull factor, push factors are nondiscretionary, meaning an individual has little or no decision-making power in either leaving one position or being forced into another (Seet et al., 2021). Several factors can push a person away from a role in an organization, including moving a person's family to accommodate a different position at a different location (Richardson, 2006). Where push factors can be forceful, pull factors are at the discretion of the person making the career move. Pull factors tend to be more positive in nature due to the discretionary trait these factors carry. For example, positive organizational relationships can increase the likelihood that a person remains at and moves into a leadership role (Sasso et al., 2019). As stressful as leadership jobs can be, change can be a different stressor that moving positions can pose. The sense of created purpose or affiliation in a position can prevent an individual from moving, even if it is a promotional move (Reinhardt et al., 2020). Financial considerations, relocation of family, household, or personal or social implications may be

considerations to remain in a leadership role. The following section will describe job-specific push and pull factors to and from superintendency and other job-connected mooring issues.

Burnout as a Factor in Turnover

Burnout would be classified as a push factor. Burnout is most closely associated with emotional or psychological exhaustion and was coined by clinical psychologist Herbert Freudenberger in 1974 (Jackson et al., 1986). Depleted emotional resources, detachment from co-workers or those being aided, and adverse self-perception are the three concepts that separate burnout from stress (Awa et al., 2010). Ultimately, burnout is the imbalance between the employee and the work environment in which they are being paid to function effectively with minimal success (Maslach, 2003). People can remain in a position throughout burnout, but the results of their achievements diminish. Burnout can become a factor that can result in a superintendent being pushed from their position as an internal force or externally from the BOE because of poor performance.

Job Effectiveness

Job effectiveness will affect the intensity at which an employee feels pushed from a position. The alignment of the superintendent's skillset in the operating environment will be a part of how effective they may be in their position. Connolly et al. (2019) referred to this alignment as the context in which the leader operates determines their effectiveness. Berkovich and Bogler (2020) argue that academia's perspective of effectiveness revolves around the administrator's professional and collegial skillset, whereas conversely, effectiveness is the functionality of managerial skills applied in real-time. Managerial skills are a significant part of a school administrator's job description (Grissom & Bartanen, 2019). If a superintendent can effectively manage their faculty and staff, they are less likely to be pushed from their position.

Pay Satisfaction

Financial benefits can pull someone from a position, but it may not be enough if they are content in the financial situation of their current position. However, employees are more likely to leave if they are unsatisfied with their current monetary compensation. Pay satisfaction can be broken down into different compensation levels, such as raises or benefits (Tran, 2017). Like superintendents, the higher the pay level for building principals compared to their peers, the more stable they are within the position (Baker et al., 2010; Grissom & Mitani, 2016). For example, if administrators are satisfied with their compensation, they may be less likely to be pulled to a new position or pushed from the current one. Likewise, employees are more likely to be satisfied with their job if they feel their pay is commensurate to their tasks, thus reducing the chance of being pushed out or pulled towards another position (Terpstra & Honoree, 2004). Pay satisfaction could be a pull, push, or mooring factor, depending on the referenced position and person.

Leadership Success and Promotion

Promotion is typically a positive move for the employee and the organization. The overwhelming majority of school administrators start as teachers. However, many begin teaching to acquire an administrative position. A pull into an administrative position is a desire to have a border impact on students, a building, or a district than within one classroom (Farley-Ripple et al., 2012). Promotion to superintendent is revered as it has the most extensive reach in most districts.

Job Preferences

Just as a promotion can be a motivator or pull to a superintendent position, a specific job preference can be a pull out of a position one is currently satisfied. For example, aspiring

superintendents will likely take on the role immediately after acquiring the credentials and certifications that qualify them for that position (Davis & Bowers, 2019). If a professional's intentions are known, this pull could be forecasted to reduce any negative impact as a result of leaving a previous position. A candidate for a superintendent position likely has a preference towards leadership as this executive position requires honed leadership skills rarely found in first-time school administrators.

Cost of Transition

A superintendent may remain in position because of personal reasons. For example, though financial factors may attempt to pull a superintendent elsewhere, the cost of making the switch may not be worth the raise. Time and money have previously been considered in the cost of transition, and recent literature also includes the psychological costs that are factored into this change (Lin et al., 2021). For instance, a \$20,000 raise may not be worth the cost of switching to a different working environment, which may also require a longer commute and increased travel expenses that negatively impact the employee's family. The transition cost toward another position for a superintendent may not be worth a potential raise elsewhere.

Routine/Habit

Sometimes, an employee is moored to their position because of routine and comfortability. Routine and comfortability can be reasons to look towards terminating a superintendent to benefit the organization as mooring becomes a negative factor. The longer a person is in a position, the more likely work habits will have been formed. When an employee recognizes the amount of repetition required to perform a task to gain efficiency, it may become a deterring factor to take on another position (Cheng et al., 2019). If a superintendent's efficiency benefits the district and its stakeholders, routines, and habits may be beneficial mooring factors.

Job Satisfaction

As with several other sub-sections, job satisfaction could be found in any of the three primary categories: push, pull, or mooring. An individual may be offered another position, promotional or lateral, with higher pay, but because of the satisfaction within their current position, they may not move. Job satisfaction can include organizational-to-employee goal congruence, professional interactions, respect, and resources (Whipp & Salin, 2018). Job satisfaction can be paired with positional comfort, which is difficult to separate. An individual comfortable within their position may report being satisfied for the sole reason of not wanting to change positions because change can be difficult. An individual in a school district's current middle or upper management position may remain in that position, not moving on to a superintendent, because they are satisfied with their current role within the organization.

Why Leaders Become Leaders

When a person decides to become a leader, there are infinite factors for each individual. The push, pull, and mooring factors describe just a few. Sometimes individuals aspire to be the leader that mentored them. Other times people seek to better their department, team, or organization more than the leader before them. Rising to the role of a leader may include responding during unprecedented times, making real-time decisions with limited knowledge, and understanding how to change based on previous errors (Watkins, 2012). A superintendent likely rose from a previous leadership role within education, although some have come from the private sector.

As aspiring superintendents strive to establish a well-crafted skill set, they must collaborate with other veteran leaders. Research has shown that collaboration between aspiring and veteran leadership members in education has fostered more student success (Clayton et al.,

2013). Not all superintendents have had the opportunity to collaborate with more veteran educational leaders. This lack of collaboration is especially true for those coming from the private sector. Ultimately, as BOE members are charged with enhancing the educational outcomes for the community students, pushing for leaders who have collaborated with more veteran leaders may put students in a better position to achieve.

Summary

Literature on leadership and the school superintendent positions allows future superintendents to evaluate what type of leader would best fill a district's specific need when seeking a potential position. This understanding comes with the expansion and increased expectations the position has, taking in the managerial role to capture instructional leadership as well (Björk et al., 2014). Many factors influence how superintendents are selected, including certification, education, leadership skills, and instructional skills, and depending on the community, gender, and race can be as well (Fortenberry, 2022). The PPM theory provides a basis to understand why a person may be pushed towards, pulled towards, or remain in the superintendent's seat in a school district. This research narrows the gap in the literature to explain the concerns that impact those seeking the position and those that seek to fill the position of the superintendency.

The practical value of this research can provide information for school districts to hire more qualified individuals for a superintendency and educate those aspiring to the position (Fortenberry, 2022). However, colleges and universities may also find this helpful information, as almost half of the superintendents have earned a terminal degree, and the evolution of the superintendent's position can help mold the curriculum for future superintendents (Tienken, 2021). Stakeholders and entities can utilize the literature review to understand better the

leadership styles they may either look to implement or look for in a candidate. Overall, the pushes, pulls, failures, and successes of those who have lived the journey of attaining a superintendent's position give more information for those who attain or seek to attain the position at any point along their career path.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences of people who have sought and acquired the role of school superintendent in New York. The research design provides an avenue to understanding the lived experiences of superintendents. Chapter Three provides an explanation of the research design to reveal a superintendent's lived experiences in attaining the prominent position. The research questions provided the basis for generating and asking questions during interviews and focus groups. Procedures are then detailed for each data collection method for triangulation. This chapter concludes with the trustworthiness section for analysis.

Research Design

Qualitative research imparts understanding or extends the depth of understanding on a topic by exploring lived experiences, the actions a person or people take, or through the lens a person perceives (Tenny et al., 2021). A qualitative design was appropriate for this study because this phenomenon is unfamiliar to potential superintendents, school districts, and higher educational institutions and requires exploratory research to explain the meaning behind a person's journey to the school superintendency (Fortenberry, 2022). A phenomenological design is used in a qualitative study to gain a deeper understanding of the essence of a specific life experience and the change resulting from those experiences (Patton, 2015). The rationale for using a phenomenological design is the emphasis on exploring a person's experiences while pursuing a district superintendent role.

To explore the lived experiences, research questions are the basis of interview questions generated, questionnaire questions, and focus group questions. The research questions also

guided the study in developing themes throughout the data analysis and synthesis of a superintendent's lived experiences. Research findings and conclusions were analyzed and synthesized to provide information about the lived experiences of superintendents in New York for future interpretation and inquiry, which will add to the current body of literature on this topic.

The specific type of phenomenological research is transcendental. Transcendental was selected because the researcher will engage in setting aside biases to examine the phenomenon and then using imagination to understand the underlying forces of the experience better (Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenon in this study is the journey and lived experiences a person is exposed to when acquiring and carrying out the role of a school superintendent. The transcendental avenue was chosen as it captures more of the participant's knowledge with minimal alteration from the researcher's predispositions (Duncan, 2020). Phenomenology is common in educational research as understanding the conscious experience is key to learning (Hamilton et al., 2019; Van Manen, 1990). Though other approaches to understanding the human experience are available, transcendental phenomenology points toward the sciences of actualities (Moustakas, 1994).

Research Questions

Evidence for a phenomenological study is generated using information from individuals who have lived experiences in a specific area (Neal, 2020). To gather information, interviews, focus groups, and questionnaires were used to obtain answers to the research questions. The research questions are the foundation for the questions created for each information-gathering process. Of the three research questions, the central research question is the cornerstone from which the other three sub-questions originate.

Central Research Question

How do school district leaders describe their lived experience during their journey to becoming a superintendent in New York?

Sub-Question One

What were the motivations and career goals superintendents set before entering the field of education in a school district?

Sub-Question Two

What are common pushes and pulls that land educational professionals into the position of school superintendent?

Sub-Question Three

What experiences most prepared district leaders for the superintendent role?

Setting and Participants

The setting and participant sections provide the information necessary to visualize and replicate this research. The setting and participants for this study were selected from within the state of New York. The settings for interviews, questionnaires, and focus groups varied depending on the preference and availability of the participants and researcher. However, the locations were all places familiar to the participants as nine of them met virtually from the comforts of their home, office, or vehicle using the media platform Google Meet. One participant invited the researcher into her office which was also a familiar setting. The participants were all current or former superintendents of school districts in New York. Age and gender varied though the youngest interviewee was not less than 35 years old.

Setting

The geographic location for this study was in New York. There are 731 school districts,

4,413 public schools, and 355 charter schools serving 2,448,537 K–12 students by 212,296 public school teachers in New York (New York State Education Department, 2023). The districts that superintendents hail from or were previously employed with vary in size, serving graduating classes from less than 100 to over 1,000 students.

As New York is large geographically, the further away from Long Island the participating current or former superintendent was located, the higher the likelihood that the interview or membership within a focus group was conducted through a virtual platform. The settings were selected jointly between the researcher and participant as interviews and the focus group occurred face-to-face or via video conferencing software. Interviews were mostly held virtually with participants in offices, homes or another quiet meeting areas to allow the interview and recording to occur. However, the participants' preferences took precedence to foster more participation in the study.

The school leadership is a standard hierarchy, with superintendents being the highest-hirable position working directly with elected BOE officials. School superintendents directly supervise the upper management in school districts which can include deputy or assistant superintendents, executive directors, and directors of one or more departments. Each superintendent is the head of one school district which is independent from other districts in a county. New York is unlike some other states as counties are likely not a signal school district. A school district in New York can be comprised of a single town or a few towns combined into an independent district from those that surround the school district within the county.

Superintendents from this study were selected from Suffolk or Nassau counties, which combined have over 100 school districts. These public-school districts report to the New York State Education Department. Between 10–15 school districts were represented assuming each

participant was the superintendent of only one district. Superintendents in New York directly supervise administrators in the roles of principals, directors, executive directors, and assistant superintendents in the district.

Participants

Participants in this study were current or former superintendents employed by a public school district in New York. Gender varied among participants, and the selection process was not biased toward age or gender. The number of participants was 10, which aligns with qualitative research requirements (Marshall et al., 2022), allowing for data saturation. In qualitative studies, there are typically not more than 10 unique opinions on a specific topic; thus, having 10 participants covered 10 unique opinions with the understanding that there would likely be repeated opinions instead of 10 unique ones (Cobern & Adams, 2020). The sole criterion for this study is that participants currently hold or have previously held the role of school superintendent in New York. To be qualified for a superintendent position in New York, participants earned at least a master's degree and hold or have held state certification for a district level administrative role. All participants were numbered and given pseudonyms for confidentiality purposes.

Researcher Positionality

The motivation behind this study is the personal drive toward achieving a superintendent position in a public school district. Since childhood, leadership has been a part of my life, as I grew up in a multigenerational family business led by my grandfather and now my father. Since the purpose of the study is to understand the lived experiences of a superintendent and the journey up to it, the interpretive framework will be social constructivism. Developed by psychologist Lev Vygotsky (1962), social constructivism stands with a person learning through their knowledge and experiences within social/cultural settings rather than in isolation (Davis et

al., 2017). Just as my background has shaped my motivation for this study, researching the background and lived experiences of superintendents will inspire understanding of the motivation of others who have strived towards this specific position (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Exploring the choices and experiences superintendents have made can contribute to the field of education in a similar fashion to how Mombaers et al. (2023) did using the PPM theory with educators. Though my interpretation of findings altered my perception of the path and life of a superintendent, maximum effort was used to reduce bias throughout the research by bracketing out known biases (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Interpretive Framework

The interpretive framework for this study is social constructivism. Though constructivism is not only social, but this framework is also based on making or deriving meaning from lived experiences (Pilarska, 2021). Social constructivism is used to gain information directly from people regarding their specific lived experiences as phenomena that occur in everyday life (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Hay, 2016). Use of the social constructivism framework assisted my ability to understand the reason district professionals made a variety of social, personal, and institutional decisions progressing on the path toward superintendency (Davis & Bowers, 2019). Social constructivism shapes this study because it uses individuals' knowledge derived from the experiences that they have lived through to get from one point to another in their lives (Davis et al., 2017).

Philosophical Assumptions

Philosophical assumptions are the basic beliefs or foundation for the logical thinking and reasoning of a research approach that capture the assumptions described in the following sections which influence the researcher's methods, interpretation, and data analysis (Creswell &

Creswell, 2017). In qualitative studies, philosophical assumptions may include rhetorical and methodological assumptions (King & Horrocks, 2010). The three philosophical assumptions, ontological, epistemological, and axiological, are required by Liberty University. The purpose of the following descriptions is to describe the lens through which I view the world.

Ontological Assumption

Ontological assumptions from a transcendent viewpoint pose reality as intrinsic to a person based on their conscious perceptions (Neubauer et al., 2019). I believe reality to be a singular unit as it is perceived through each person's mind. My belief hinges mainly on what I can sense. However, as many perceive reality, I believe the argument for multiple realities holds weight. Social constructivism points toward the belief in multiple realities based on the lived experiences of other people (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Thus, ontological assumptions will assist my interpretation of results through the viewpoint of superintendents rather than my lens of what superintendents might have experienced and interpreted from those experiences.

Epistemological Assumption

Epistemological assumptions enable the researcher to take themselves out of this world to produce interpretations, with minimal bias, of the phenomenon they are examining (Neubauer et al., 2019). The epistemological assumptions I hold reside in my knowledge from my lived experiences. I feel most people are influenced by their lived experiences and are naturally biased as a result. However, I am a more logical thinker, and part of my experience is that a person's subjective perception is not indicative of fact. Removing myself from the world will allow the facts derived from experts in a field and research to come out and be interpreted with minimal bias.

Axiological Assumption

Axiological assumptions are the researcher's biases and beliefs being made known to provide for further transparency to critique potential inadvertent biases that may be found (Creswell & Poth, 2018). As the pathway towards and during superintendency is an area of interest, my biases are found toward those in leadership roles. Generally, I believe that those in leadership roles have a more difficult job than those they lead. True leaders take little credit and the most responsibility. As I aspire to be a superintendent, the information garnered must be carefully gathered, analyzed, and synthesized using techniques such as Epoché to mitigate biases. Epoché, or bracketing, is the process of eliminating a researcher's bias about the phenomenon they are studying (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). As a current school administrator, my biases were addressed to reduce any influences on the data.

Researcher's Role

I was the sole gatherer of data during each phase of the data collection process. Analysis and synthesis were completed almost entirely by me. However, third parties and dissertation committee members were a part of this process as a series of checks and balances to avoid assumptions or biases from entering the study. I did not have any authority over any of the participants. Of all participants, there were three whom I have worked under. The transcendental phenomenological design was chosen because this specific phenomenon in education has minimal literature stating such. I assume that the superintendency is an arduous journey getting to the position and holding it. I feel this position is prestigious and challenging to do well. This design required individual interviews, which I believe to be the most significant and accurate source of knowledge based on the lived experience being studied, while avoiding my personal biases towards the position.

Procedures

The steps to conduct my study included approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB), gaining consent from superintendents to gather data, collecting the data, and finally, analyzing and synthesizing data. The recruitment process for selecting superintendents to complete an interview, participate in the focus group, and fill out the questionnaire was based on credentials and regional location. Questions for interviews, the questionnaire, and focus groups are indicated in the sections that follow were used to conduct each data collection method. I started contacting superintendents in New York to solicit their participation in the study. All participants were given an informed consent form to review and sign (see Appendix B).

Permissions

Permission for this study is comprised of two parts: this study was approved through the IRB (see Appendix A) and after the IRB approval of the study, a consent form was completed by participants prior to data collection. The consent form was given to participants to ensure they understood that the process requires consent, and the researcher also explained their rights (see Appendix B). As most participants could not complete the interview or focus group in person, the consent was emailed to them for review and a signature was obtained before they participated. Site approval was not needed as the one visited site was by invitation of the participant in their office.

Recruitment Plan

A sample pool is the specific group of individuals the researcher intends to study (Subedi, 2021). The sample pool for this study is n = 125 which is the number of public-school districts in Nassau and Suffolk counties in New York, each with one superintendent (New York State Department of Education, 2023). However, this number was slightly more with referrals to two

retired superintendents and another in a different role all found through snowball sampling. The sample size is the actual number of participants from the sample pool for a study (Subedi, 2021). Convenience sampling was also used as I have professional connections to superintendents. The sample size for this study was 10 participants comprising of school superintendents from New York. Participants were introduced to this study via email using the recruitment script (see Appendix C). Superintendent's email addresses were acquired through school district websites or though other superintendents, as many may know or know of one another. The participants' accessibility to the researcher is the basis of convenience sampling (Stratton, 2023). Accessibility to and discussions with superintendents will also lead to snowball sampling, which is a form of chain referral sampling where participants suggest or refer other potential subjects to pursue, be it word-of-mouth or other media (Spencer et al., 2021). Snowball and convenience sampling were used to obtain the 10 participants.

Data Collection Plan

Transcendental phenomenological data can be collected using several methods, but the primary method is a lengthy interview that "involves an informal, interactive process and utilizes open-ended comments and questions" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 114). Data collection was approached using three different methods. The primary method is influenced by Moustakas's research on individual interviews. The second method was a questionnaire for participants to fill out individually. The third method was the creation of a focus group. The focus group invitation was extended to all participants but only six participated of the 10 from the individual interview

stage. The order of this data collection allowed for individual introduction and gaining rapport with participants.

Individual Interviews

The individual interviews were the primary data collection method for phenomenological research (Moustakas, 1994). Interviews were conducted with current or previous superintendents of school districts within New York in a semi-structured format. Moustakas (1994) indicated that the interviews should start with social conversation to create a relaxed ambiance and foster trust between the researcher and participant and are important in gathering a specific point-of-view outside of the researchers. The semi-structured interview style allows for a more conversational format, as follow-up questions can enter after open-ended questions are answered (Raworth et al., 2012). Interviews provide a method of collecting information from a different lens because questions and discussions were held with people who are or have been school superintendents.

Interviews were conducted in person or virtually using Google Meet as the virtual platform. Virtual platforms have been found to produce usable data (Tabachnick et al., 2022). For the interview that occurred in person, the researcher met at the participant's place of preference, private office, with the condition that it was a quiet place where discussion can occur with minimal distraction. Each interview consisted of one candidate and the researcher, who collected answers and discussion points on a laptop using a Microsoft Word document. The interviews were recorded electronically using a laptop and a smartphone as backup. The audio was transcribed afterward into text. For the interviews completed remotely, the video and audio were recorded on the selected platform and simultaneously auditorily recorded with a smartphone. A pen and pad were brought to each interview in case of technical difficulties to ensure interview questions, answers, and discussion topics were not missed. However, the pen

and pad were not needed for any of the data collection sessions.

The 15 interview questions for this research were written to answer the central research question: How do school district leaders describe their lived experience during their journey to becoming a superintendent in New York? Each interview was scheduled for 60 minutes with the time for questioning between 30–45 minutes. The purpose of open-ended questions was to gain insight and substantive description of the details regarding what the experiences are when heading toward the superintendent's position (Moustakas, 1994). Thus, questions were posed to create conversation on the participants' experiences in journeying toward a superintendency. The researcher opened with a grand tour question and integrated open-ended style questions which target traits and experiences of the participants (Jiménez & Orozco, 2021). As Moustakas (1994) suggested, creating a social and comfortable setting evokes trust between the researcher and candidates. Marshall et al. (2022) also noted that creating a comfortable and more social discussion style transition increases the participant's likelihood of getting deeper into their story regarding the phenomenon.

Individual Interview Questions

- 1. What was the career path that led you to your current position professionally? CRQ
- 2. How did you enter the field of education? SQ
- 3. What were the motivations that pulled you towards a superintendent's role? SQ1
- 4. How did you come to the decision that you knew you would pursue this position? CRQ
- 5. What experiences created the path that placed you in the position of superintendent?
 CRQ
- 6. What college or university experiences, courses, or extracurricular activities do you feel best prepared you for the position? SQ1

- 7. What undergraduate or graduate programs were most beneficial in securing your position as a superintendent? SQ1
- 8. What type of career opportunities, successes, or failures do you feel best prepared you for the position? SQ1
- Describe any negative influences outside yourself that pushed you towards a superintendent's position? SQ2
- 10. Aside from the college and career experiences, what personal life events or experiences guided you towards the superintendent's position? CRQ
- 11. What were the short-term goals (i.e., three-year, five-year, ten-year) that you set once you knew you wanted to pursue a superintendent's position? SQ2
- 12. If you were to take a different career or educational path than the one you have previously described, describe the path you would take to help you acquire and hold the superintendent position? CRQ
- 13. How has the journey toward the position molded you to better serve the district as a superintendent? SQ2
- 14. What is the most challenging task or skill needed when striving for a superintendent position? CRQ
- 15. What is the most valuable advice you have to offer someone who is seeking a superintendent position? SQ2

Experts in educational research have reviewed the questions for validity and conciseness.

The first two questions are grand tour questions which allowed participants to describe themselves eliciting general information on their background that is pertinent to their journey towards a superintendency (Jiménez & Orozco, 2021). Questions three, four, and five focus on

how superintendents found themselves on a path towards the position in more detail. These questions focused on motivations, decisions made, and other experiences that participants engaged in. Questions seven and eight target specific educational and career experiences that participants felt were necessary to increase their employability as a superintendent.

Questions nine and 10 focus on personal life aspects of the journey that each participant experienced. These questions from the participants personal experience sought to retrieve data points across a broader spectrum by asking specifically about negative events or experiences in their life. The personal aspects of studying careers and gaining different career positions incorporate work-life balances need to be factored in with professional choices (Warren, 2021). Numerous variables can impact work-life balance and Questions nine and 10 target the personal areas other questions do not.

The objective for Question 11 was to identify common goals that superintendents need to reach their position. Career indecision is impacted by the lack of setting career goals along with some other factors (Creed et al., 2021). Question 11 focuses on those first steps when entering the field which future professionals seeking a superintendent's position can use as goal examples. Similar to Question 11, Questions 12–15 were designed for reflection on the potential actions or pathways that did not occur or were not taken by participants. The reflective process facilitates the understanding of past actions or emotions during the time the reflection is targeting (García Iriarte et al., 2023).

Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

Once the data was collected, I used Moustakas's (1994) recommendations and placed the information in front of me to study what was captured during the interview process. I used the seven steps Moustakas modified to analyze without bias when reading through the data. Though

van Kaam (1966) originally had six steps, Moustakas (1994) modified version consisted of seven steps: (a) horizonalization: listing and preliminary grouping, (b) reduction and elimination: determination of invariant constituents, (c) categorization and thematization of invariant constituents, (d) application and validation: final identification of invariant constituents and themes, (e) construction of individual textural description, (f) construction of individual structural description, (g) compositive description: construction of structural-textural description (Galinha-de-Sá & Velez, 2022).

Phenomenological research requires a back-and-forth examination between looking at the data and then describing it to reference repetitive statements of "textural qualities" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 90). I took the interview answers and searched for key phrases, interpreted them, checking for reoccurring features, determined the meanings of the essential phenomenon, and created a definition of the key repeating features of the phenomenon to start the organization of data (Patton, 2015). Horizonalization of data occurs in all phrases where data points are treated equally. Horizonalization is important because the process identified common themes from the interviews of the lived experiences the superintendents described (Moustakas, 1994). Coding key phrases into themes allowed the researcher to look for a more profound understanding of answers given during individual interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Last, the interview themes and meanings were synthesized to look for "textual and composite structural descriptions" to determine the meaning of the studied phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994, p. 144). Superintendents' answers during the individual interviews were broken down into small data pieces. I used the Delve software to categorize and develop the essence in the current time and space of the study. Delve software supports the data analysis of each participant's answers, as the software is designed to assist in analyzing data that does not

have numbers or a standard structure. I developed themes from the emerging essence(s) to help explain a person's journey to the superintendency.

Questionnaires

Creswell and Poth (2018) suggested that phenomenological researchers conduct multiple interviews and gather information outside the research interview process. A questionnaire enabled the participant to respond to questions without the researcher's presence, as the research is present during the individual interview and focus group. The questionnaire may also capture more information for introverted personalities who may not use as many words verbally rather than written versus more extroverted personalities who typically prefer the social interaction of an interview (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The purpose of having a questionnaire is to capture a different perspective, as participants had time to analyze and formulate a written response rather than delivering an immediate response during individual interviews or the focus group.

The questionnaires were handed to participants after the individual interview or emailed to participants who are participated remotely. The goal of the questionnaire is to provide participants with time and a different media and tone from the questions asked orally during the interview to address the central research question. The goal is to enable time for participants to think of their lived experiences in answering the questionnaire. A questionnaire eliminates the researcher as a pacing and driving force allowing for an anonymous and self-paced answering of questions that cannot occur during the interviews and focus groups (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

To promote participation, there are fewer questions on the questionnaire than in the interviews. The questionnaire is comprised of seven questions that were generated by the researcher. The questionnaire is expected to take 14–28 minutes, estimated at two–four minutes spent on each question. Participants had the option of hard copy or electronic copies of the

questionnaire provided to them, though all preferred electronic copies for ease of access.

Questionnaire Questions

- What do you feel should be added to undergraduate or graduate programs that would most likely help future district leaders secure a position as a school superintendent? SQ1
- 2. What childhood or early adulthood experiences encouraged you to pursue a superintendent position? SQ2
- Describe the most influential person who encouraged you to seek the superintendent's position. SQ2
- 4. Describe the most important reason you chose to pursue a job as a superintendent. CRQ
- What three pieces of advice would you give a candidate who is seeking a superintendent position? SQ3
- 6. There are multiple, well-documented leadership styles such as:
 - a. Instrumental Leadership (Directs focus on task accomplishment; emphasizes efficiency and productivity),
 - b. Change Leadership (Guides teams through transitions; fosters adaptability and innovation amidst organizational shifts challenging status quo),
 - c. Servant Leadership (Prioritizes serving others; focuses on the team's well-being and growth),
 - d. Transformational Leadership (Inspires and motivates; encourages creativity and fosters a shared vision for organizational change),
 - e. and Adaptive Leadership (Navigates challenges dynamically; responds flexibly to evolving situations for organizational success).

In your experience, how do you describe your leadership style?

7. The <u>traits</u> of those in leadership positions may include some of the follow: motivated, competitive, good hearted/moral, takes responsibility, good sense of humor, humility/humbleness, strong intelligence, strong EI, confident, and flexible. Which you would associate with yourself that helped you secure a position as a school superintendent and why do you think they are important?

Questionnaire Data Analysis Plan

The questionnaire requires a written response which slows the rate at which superintendents can respond. Questionnaires are important as they provide a more standardized method to data collection in qualitative research (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Similar to individual interviews, van Kaam's (1966) modified seven-step analysis system was used to create small data points from answers given by participants and combined to derive answers to the phenomenon. After collecting the individual data and building individual themes, the questionnaire data was utilized to categorize codes and develop themes in search of consistencies or commonalities among participants' answers.

The questionnaire answers were coded using Delve to determine the phenomenon's essence from a second perspective. The first task was uploading all the text data from the questionnaires into the Delve program. Epoché was used to limit biases about the experiences superintendents have to secure their position (Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenological reduction limited biases through bracketing and suspending biases about the journey toward superintendency, which is the phenomenon being studied in this case.

Focus Groups

In qualitative research, focus groups are group interviews with questions being asked by the researcher or another selected party (Guest et al., 2017). The focus group provided an opportunity for rapport to be further established between myself and the participants. Focus groups include people as homogeneous participants who participate in discussion with a series of questions that collect qualitative data for a study (Richard et al., 2021). Though participants in focus groups have displayed difficulties eliciting information on sensitive topics, the interactions and dynamics among group members can help increase comfort levels, thus, increasing the depth of the discussion (Woodyatt et al., 2016).

Based on timeframes for the study and the schedules of superintendents, there was one focus group created that participants engaged within. The focus group contained six participants from the group of 10 who completed the individual interviews and questionnaire (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). As there were not enough participants that were willing to participate in a focus group, there were no more groups created. The point of the focus group is to facilitate more natural conversations, which can yield more information beyond answering questions individually (Guest et al., 2017).

The focus group was conducted virtually via Google Meet for convenience to the participants, promoting increased participation by avoiding unnecessary travel. Like the individual interviews, a computer with audio and video recording was used along with a smart phone. The purpose of multiple recording devices is to avoid data collection issues if technology fails, which it did not. The focus group was scheduled for 60 minutes to allow all participants to answer all questions and give opportunities to build of one another's input. The focus group enable extended contact time and provide more open and controversial exchanges between superintendents (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Though the focus group questions guided the discussion, they remained open-ended to promote conversation among the group members and not exclusively with the interviewer. The

focus group was performed using a semi-structured interview style to elicit responses encouraging participants to discuss the subject during the session (Thomas, 2008). Follow-up questions were asked to increase data input based on the participant's responses to questions. The focus group conversations ended once participants had answered questions from their perspectives.

Focus Group Questions

- Where can future superintendent candidates find mentors when pursuing a top position?
 SQ2
- 2. What classes, professional development, or job roles that prepare someone for superintendency beyond the curriculum taught during the school district leader or administrator classes for certification do you feel made you a stronger candidate for the superintendency? SQ2
- 3. Describe the major challenges of seeking a superintendent's position? CRQ
- 4. What makes being a superintendent worth all the experiences you have had up to this point? CRQ
- 5. What factors encouraged or discouraged you to obtain a superintendent position? SQ2

Focus Group Data Analysis Plan

To analyze the focus group data, van Kaam's (1966) modified seven-step process was enacted to derive the phenomenon's essence (Moustakas, 1994). The answers were input into the Delve software to create common themes and find the phenomenon's essence. Phenomenological reduction assists in examining the data using strategies such as bracketing, horizontalizing, and organizing themes and then reference "textural qualities" (Moustakas, 1994, p. 90). Focus group data was analyzed for key phrases and reoccurring themes to determine the meanings of the

essential phenomenon and create a definition of the key repeating features of the phenomenon (Patton, 2015). Horizonalization of participants statements from focus group responses were used to derive significant phrases and couple them with other data points creating emergent themes (Williams et al., 2021). Last, the focus group codes were synthesized to look for "textual and composite structural descriptions" to determine the themes which provide the essence of the lived experiences of a district leader as they sought to become a superintendent (Moustakas, 1994, p. 144).

Data Synthesis

The data collected from the individual interviews, questionnaires, and focus groups were synthesized to determine common themes through data triangulation. The triangulation process was completed using the Delve software. Using Delve, the data were organized and engaged in horizonalization to ensure no biases to specific data points collected. Answers to all questions were analyzed from the interviews, questionnaires, and focus group(s) and reduce it into a simpler meaning through the reduction and elimination process (Moustakas, 1994). The textual descriptions were then categorized into themes and checked against the data. Each theme was synthesized using the Delve software into a single node. A node combines data into themes or common concepts and can be compared from different sources such as interviews, questionnaires and other media (Saldaña & Omasta, 2018). This node combined the themes gleaned from the data points allowing for conclusions to be drawn and the essence of the lived experienced found (Moustakas, 1994). The data synthesis led to the answer to the central research question.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness is a study's transparency, transferability, and confirmability (Stahl & King, 2020). Lincoln and Guba (1985) developed a way to measure trustworthiness in a

qualitative study as a truth value. Trustworthiness answers the question of how much truth is found within the data presented in a study. This truth value contains five key concepts as follows: (a) credibility, (b) transferability, (c) dependability, (d) confirmability, and (e) authenticity. The following subsections provide a more detailed look into each section.

Credibility

Credibility is an essential factor in evaluating the trustworthiness of a study's findings.

Credibility is weakened if the data collected does not accurately depict the phenomena or if the analysis appears biased or untruthful (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Credibility can be increased by ensuring internal validity where the actual research portions of the study coincide with the study's intent (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). Natow (2020) indicated that information acquired from high-profile interviews can be problematic if there are self-serving answers or misrepresentations of a recalled situation. Comparing the interview information with the data from the focus group and questionnaires helped to determine biases, self-serving, or elusive answers and labeled them as outliers, so patterns can be found using multiple data points for validation (Natow, 2020). To increase the credibility of the focus group, the findings were verified with the participants.

Member checking allowed participants to review the interpretations of their focus group and weigh in with their opinion (Stahl & King, 2020).

Peer debriefing reveals the research to peers with minimal interest to analyze different parts of the study, such as the questions, to clarify areas that may be assumed or implied by the researcher (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Using peers to discuss data points and findings throughout the study will allow outside critiques while immersed in the research. The peer debriefing was completed before member checking which allows members to give feedback on specific interpretations of data collected from peers (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Motulsky, 2021). A school

administrator and a psychologist assisted in completing the debriefing for this study. Both members have attained a doctorate in their areas of profession, Doctor of Education, EdD, and Doctor of Psychology, PhD. Peer debriefing also helped the researcher during the reflection process during data collection (Francois et al., 2018). Understanding the participant's views and representations and accurately reconstructing them by the researcher was essential to credibility (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Patton, 2015).

Transferability

Transferability determines how information can be used across different areas instead in isolation within the study itself (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). It is important to describe how the information can apply beyond the research and be used in different geographic areas or professions (Shenton, 2004). As all participants were current or previous superintendents, it is important for future researchers to adhere to this criterion if trying to replicate the study. Using information from superintendents in New York may coincide with those seeking a superintendent's position in their district. Transferability will be most applicable to New York superintendencies as those are the participants included in all three data collection methods. The researcher will create the conditions to increase the probability of transferability, but it is important to acknowledge that transferability can only be made by the reader.

Dependability

Dependability is the ability to replicate the findings consistently if the same participants, setting, questions, and methods were used (Shenton, 2004). All the questions used for interviews, questionnaires and focus groups are written out so future researchers could use them verbatim. Chapter Three of this study details each section to allow outside researchers to replicate specific research areas, creating a more dependable outcome (Janis, 2022). The effective description of

the procedures gives detailed information to strengthen the dependability and overall trustworthiness of this study. The dissertation committee members and research director will assist with the inquiry audit.

Confirmability

Two techniques were used to ensure the greatest degree of neutrality possible including triangulation and reflexivity. Triangulation ensures that numerous data points are used to derive a conclusion on the phenomena being studied (Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Patton, 2015). Triangulation was achieved using three data collection methods: individual interviews, questionnaires, and focus groups for analysis and synthesis in searching for commonalities and themes. Reflexivity is the last technique of confirmability. In seeking out how interactions between the researcher and participants are "bidirectionally interactive and interdependent," I journaled thoughts as a reflective process using my laptop (Patton, 2015, p. 70). Reflexivity will be completed throughout the study as part of the Epoché process.

Ethical Considerations

Before any participants were contacted, the study was approved through the IRB at Liberty University (see Appendix A). The written and verbal dialogs from the questionnaire and asked during interviews and the focus group(s) were respectful, non-biased, and just to the participants as recommended by Aluwihare-Samaranayake (2012). The participants were given an informed consent form to sign (see Appendix B), which notified them that the study was voluntary and that they had a right to cease participation at any time without penalty.

Confidentiality will be maintained with minimal identifying information such as gender, age range, and years of experience (Pascale et al., 2022). Names of school districts and participants will be limited to numbers and pseudonyms for confidentiality. All information is stored on a

cloud-based system accessible only through security passwords held only by the researcher. After 3 years, the data will be destroyed per Liberty University IRB protocols. The risks or benefits the participants may experience are minimal, as the media used for interviews are based on the participant's preference and kept secure by password protected technology. The researcher will demonstrate reflexivity during the process to find and remedy potential issues (Potthoff et al., 2023).

Summary

Chapter Three detailed the reasoning and methodology used to collect, analyze, and synthesize data for this transcendental phenomenological study. I sought to understand the lived experience school superintendents encountered on their journey to the position. The three philosophical assumptions I have are, ontological, epistemological, and axiological, as described by van Kaam (1966) and modified by Moustakas (1994), give the reader a background through which I view the world. My ontological assumption includes viewing the world through a single reality which can be sensed and verified by others. I also believe that a person is significantly impacted by their experiences, which summarizes my epistemological assumption. My last assumption, axiological, notes that I believe that those in leadership roles have a more difficult job than those they lead.

Data were collected through individual interviews, questionnaires, and focus groups and the Epoché process was used during and after each collection to mitigate biases. Using van Kaam's (1966) modified seven steps, data were analyzed and synthesized to identify common themes using Delve software. Trustworthiness and credibility were achieved through data comparison between different data collection actions, peer debriefing, and member checking.

Triangulation was achieved through cross checking three different data collection processes with the PPM theory to validate findings.

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences an individual encounters on their journey to becoming a superintendent at a school district in New York. The following sections depict the themes that were drawn from the participants' answers in individual interviews, questionnaires, and the focus group. Three themes were derived from the data analysis process: professional relationships and skills, motivations and goals, and career development. The subthemes of mentorship, educational leadership and skills, pushes, and pulls are expanded upon under the theme associated with each. Participant numbers are aligned with pseudonyms in this section for reader convenience and to maintain participant confidentiality. The findings under the central research question note that professionals in New York commonly describe their journey to becoming a superintendent as traditional, encompassing experiences of mentorship, leadership skill development, and work situations essential for successful acquisition of a superintendency.

Participants

The 10 participants, all current or former superintendents, with seven currently in the position, engaged in individual interviews comprising 15 open-ended questions in a semi-structured format. Data was collected manually and transcribed with the assistance of TurboScribe. Following each interview, participants received a thank-you email along with the questionnaire and an invitation to join a focus group, with responses electronically submitted or returned via email.

Scheduling the focus group led to significant challenges due to the conflicts of schedules among the superintendents. Nonetheless, once the focus group commenced, the group dynamic

allowed participants to elaborate on their position as a school superintendent. Participants candidly shared their journeys to the superintendent's role, yielding rich raw data. All interviews and focus group discussions were transcribed, and combined with questionnaire text, uploaded to the Delve platform for coding and analysis. Common themes from diverse data collection methods and participant inputs were identified, with outliers noted and recorded accordingly. Pseudonyms were used to protect the privacy of participants.

Table 1Superintendent Participants

Pseudonyms	Years* as superintendent	Years in education	Highest degree earned	Retired Y/N
Maci	10	32	Doctorate	Yes
Sara	2	35	Master's & 2-years	No
			doctoral research	
Chance	16	40	Doctorate	Yes
Sean	2	38	Master's & post-	No
			graduate certificate	
Sylvia	4	23	Doctorate	No
Paul	7	29	Doctorate	No
Kaleb	2	34	Doctorate	No
Kaci	1	25	Doctorate	No
Jaimie	5	25	Master's & post-	No
			graduate advanced	
			Certificate	
Theodon	2	28	Doctorate	No
	Maci Sara Chance Sean Sylvia Paul Kaleb Kaci Jaimie	Sara 10 Sara 2 Chance 16 Sean 2 Sylvia 4 Paul 7 Kaleb 2 Kaci 1 Jaimie 5	Maci 10 32 Sara 2 35 Chance 16 40 Sean 2 38 Sylvia 4 23 Paul 7 29 Kaleb 2 34 Kaci 1 25 Jaimie 5 25	Maci 10 32 Doctorate Sara 2 35 Master's & 2-years doctoral research Chance 16 40 Doctorate Sean 2 38 Master's & post-graduate certificate Sylvia 4 23 Doctorate Sylvia 7 29 Doctorate Kaleb 2 34 Doctorate Kaci 1 25 Doctorate Jaimie 5 25 Master's & post-graduate advanced Certificate

^{*}Years as a superintendent are rounded up to the nearest year if the position is currently held.

Participant 001 – Maci

Participant 001, Maci, is a White female who was a superintendent for a decade. She is between 55 and 65 years old. Her background differed from other participants as education was not her original career path. Maci noted, "I actually came from the corporate environment where I had spent a decade or so and then found my way into the business of education" (Individual Interview). Despite a business background, she worked in district office prior to her superintendency and in addition to her career in education, is an instructor for educational leaders. Maci's guidance to leaders in education aligns with her beliefs in what likely helps future district leaders as she lists three additions to the training that is currently given as follows, "Internships with current practicing administrators; meaningful internships for course credit; professors who have direct experience in the field of study/course" (Individual Questionnaire).

Participant 002 – Sara

Sara is a White female superintendent between 50 and 60 years old. Sara's background is traditional as she started her career as a teacher and was promoted from building administration positions of assistant principal and principal to district-level administrative positions as assistant superintendent for human resources and assistant superintendent for curriculum and instruction. Sara's position as superintendent was not her ultimate goal. Sara was content in her assistant superintendent position and when asked about the superintendency by the BOE president she responded, "No thank you, I have a 3- and 5-year-old at home" (Individual Interview). However, she did ultimately accept the position and held the position to fill the superintendent vacancy in in the school district until returning to her position as an assistant superintendent.

Participant 003 – Chance

Participant 003, Chance, is a White male who held the title of superintendent for 16 years. He was between 55 and 65 years old. Chance held numerous positions, starting his educational career as a teacher. He was aware early in his career that the superintendency was a likely path he would take as he explained, "early on, I kind of saw it as what would be most impactful, where could I have the greatest effect on helping kids" (Individual Interview). His movement through a variety of administrative solidified his desire to become a superintendent. Chance's experience in school administration spanned, "summer school [principal], assistant principal, three different principalships" (Individual Interview).

Participant 004 – Sean

Sean is currently a superintendent in New York State and has held this position for the past 2 years. He is White and between 55 and 65 years old. Sean's path was similar to many other participants as he initially started as a teacher and was promoted through the administrative ranks. Sean has had experience as an assistant principal, principal, assistant superintendent for school personnel and deputy superintendent. He is the only superintendent interviewed who was previously told he had a position as school superintendent, only to have the offer retracted. Sean explained that when he wanted the position initially and interviewed for it, he was "actually named superintendent and then unnamed superintendent" (Individual Interview). However, Sean stated, "retrospectively, it was probably the best thing [that] I did not get that superintendent position" at the time.

Participant 005 – Sylvia

Sylvia is a current school superintendent. She is Black and between 50 and 60 years old. Sylvia's journey in education started as an elementary teacher and then promoted to assistant

principal and principal prior to acquiring a district level administrative position. She explained that she was a principal when unexpectedly "the superintendent came and he goes, I really need you to be at central office" (Individual Interview). She was one of the two participants who did not have the superintendency as a goal initially, but overcoming the issues posed by COVID-19 while she was in the assistant superintendent's role proved to be a deciding point for her district's BOE to pursue her for the superintendent's position. "They [BOE members] said, you're going to be the superintendent because you got us through this big storm. I'm like, I kind of like being assistant sup[erintendent]" (Individual Interview). However, Sylvia did ultimately take the position which she is currently holding.

Participant 006 – Paul

Participant 006, Paul, is a White male currently holding the superintendent position. He is between the ages of 50 and 60 years old. Although much of his career was on the administration side of education, Paul had a typical journey from teacher to administrator to superintendent. Paul stated, "I was an assistant principal. . . went back to [redacted] as the principal, . . . [and then] was the director of special education" (Individual Interview). A previous superintendent influenced Paul to think about the superintendency. Paul stated, "I was an assistant superintendent in my early 30s. So, he [the superintendent at the time] really had said, hey, you know, the sky's the limit for you. You should really consider being superintendent down the road" (Individual Interview). Paul's various administrative positions were noted and have ultimately helped him attain the superintendent's position.

Participant 007 – Kaleb

Kaleb is a current superintendent. Kaleb is a White male between the ages of 50 and 60 years old. He has been on a district level administrator past for over 20 years of his career. Like

many other participants, Kaleb's journey to the superintendency was traditional. He was selected as a teacher during a difficult hiring period and after was promoted through different administrative roles. Kaleb explained that back in the "Early 90s there weren't a lot of positions available in public school education on Long Island, very tough to get into. I think I sent 400 resumes out my first year and only got like three interviews" (Individual Interview). Kaleb's administrative experience prior to the superintendency was a chairperson for the humanities department, supervisor of the social studies department, building principal, and then assistant superintendent.

Participant 008 – Kaci

Kaci is a White female between the ages of 55 and 65. Though she is a 1st-year superintendent, she has been a district level administrator for many years. As an administrator she was an "assistant principal and from there, went from district to district. I did move around a lot, which sometimes people frown upon. But in all of those places were opportunities for me to learn" (Individual Interview). During the times she was moving around, she earned her doctorate degree and has been an instructor for educational leaders focusing on research. Kaci noted that in addition to her learning experiences both collegially and professionally, she has "been a BOE vice president" (Individual Questionnaire).

Participant 009 – Jaimie

Jaimie is currently a superintendent. Jaimie is a White female who is between the ages of 45 and 55 years old. She has held the superintendent's position for 5 years. Her journey started with teaching and went up through central administration prior to her position as superintendent. She jumped from helping with curriculum and writing proposals as a teacher to the right hand of an assistant superintendent after acquiring her degree in administration. The position she

acquired was described as "like an assistant to an assistant superintendent. It's a lot of curriculum and instruction work. It's AIS work. It's librarians and intervention work. So, I literally went from being a literacy coach to working in central office" (Individual Interview). After that move from teachers bargaining unit to central office administration, Jaimie became an assistant superintendent prior to her superintendency.

Participant 010 – Theodon

Theodon is currently a superintendent. Theodon is a White male who is between the ages of 45 and 55 years old. He has held the superintendent's position for 2 years. After acquiring a position as an English teacher, Theodon moved up through mid- and upper-level administrative positions before acquiring a superintendent position. Theodon's administrative experiences started "as an assistant principal in two different schools. I became a K–12 coordinator of English language arts and reading. Then I was assistant superintendent for curriculum and instruction. Now I am a superintendent" (Individual Interview). Theodon noted that his initial administrative role as an assistant principal was blended as he "still taught one period a day" (Individual Interview).

Results

Data from the individual interviews, questionnaires, and a focus group session were used to create the themes and subthemes. Three overarching themes were developed: professional relationships and skills, motivations and goals, and career development. Professional relationships included subthemes of mentorship as well as education and leadership skills. Pushes and pulls were subthemes derived from the theme of motivations and goals. Career development was initially a subtheme of motivation and goals but was pulled as a general theme without subthemes. Results from data collection methods include participants' experiences when

journeying to their position as a school superintendent. It should be noted that the results from data collection presented one predominantly common code that all participants mentioned: mentorship.

Table 2Themes and Subthemes

Themes	Subtheme 1	Subtheme 2	
Professional relationships and skills	Mentorship	Education and leadership	
		Skills	
Motivations and goals	Pushes	Pulls	
Career development	-	-	

Professional Relationships and Skills

Current and former superintendents who participated in the research study noted the importance of developing professional relationships, such as mentors, and the significance of education. Professional relationships and skills are divided into two subthemes: mentorship and education and leadership skills. Mentorship and education and leadership skills are valued and necessary for personal and professional development when on the path to the superintendent's position. Some mentors were direct with participants, such as Sara's experience where her superintendent stated, "I want you to come to central office and do personnel" (Individual Interview). Chance explained that his mentors "help[ed] to steer me towards administration" (Individual Interview). A person's educational journey, the competencies and skills they regard as essential, and the impact of their relationships with others all contributed to their success. These relationships and mentors who contributed to participants' success were typically found

within the district they are or were employed in. Paul noted, "the best place is if you could find [mentors] within the district that you're working, because many times you're going to see the flow of what's happening, be able to check in on day-to-day things and ask questions." (Focus Group).

Mentorship

Mentorship was a primary subtheme that all participants mentioned. Participants may not have stated that an individual who assisted them in their journey was a mentor; however, others were more direct in their assertion that mentors were essential on their journey to superintendency. Mentorship embodies a reciprocal process where the mentor and mentee contribute to each other's growth, fostering a sense of belonging, empowerment, and skill acquisition. Chance stated, "I had some mentors along the way that definitely helped me" (Individual Interview). Support and guidance were noted by Paul when he said, "having really good superintendents who allowed the assistant superintendent to participate in executive sessions and meetings and have a voice and communicate with board members really led me that it's something I wanted to do" (Individual Interview).

Maci stated, "I think that in the end, it was trusting those people that were around me" (Individual Interview). She further explained, "the superintendent asked to meet with me and encouraged me to come into the field" (Individual Interview). When looking for trusting relationships, Chance added to Paul's comment from the previous section explaining that there is importance to external mentors stating, "having also, in addition to somebody internally, having someone externally that really has no vested interest in the work you're doing except for helping you."

Education and Leadership Skills

Education is a requirement to be in the public-school setting as an administrator of any capacity. However, all participants continued their education past the minimum requirement for a master's degree, with seven of the ten participants going as far as earning their doctorate.

Mentorship was also a part of education for several candidates. Kaci noted that one of her mentors "took me under his wing. He was the one that really encouraged me to expand my knowledge...and become a doctoral candidate" (Individual Interview). Though mentors pushed participants towards further education, Chance stated, "I don't think the college programs do an adequate job at all preparing [people] for the superintendency" (Focus Group). Other candidates built on that answer, noting district level administrative experience as more impactful than education, especially in building needed leadership skills.

Leadership skills were built through each participant's experiences before becoming superintendent. Jaimie noted that her work in a school district was "tremendous in leadership. It was during really difficult times. We lost funding, we excessed teachers. We closed buildings" (Individual Interview). Kaleb noted that patience is the most important but challenging skill, especially with himself. He noted, "The most important thing I think is patience, which I don't often have. I have patience for other people, but not a lot of patience for myself" (Individual Interview). Maci, a veteran superintendent, stated that you need to be "effective, clear, [and have] concise communication" (Individual Interview) to be successful in your journey to the superintendency. Kaleb noted several traits to be successful starting with being "humble and kind...you must [also] be a scholar of your field and continue to learn even as a superintendent" (Individual Questionnaire).

Motivation and Goals

Motivation is a theme generated from participants' descriptions of how or what pushed or pulled them in the direction of the superintendency. The data did not lend itself to measuring the intrinsic motivation of each participant. However, based on their accomplishments, experiences, or the situations they were faced with over time, alluded to the pushes or pulls they felt. Jaimie had intrinsic motivations towards her district and the potential there noting, "I knew I could make a difference for this community and that we had the recipe for success" (Individual Questionnaire). Kaci explained that goals were not so streamlined, "Even though I had those 5-year goals, they didn't come to fruition at all. They just didn't, even though I tried; it wasn't from me not trying to get there" (Individual Interview). Though goals were set, external factors changed the outcomes though motivation was still apparent. Getting to the superintendency is a series of many small goals. As Kaci explained, the goals changed though she did not lose her motivation and achieved her ultimate goal of being a school superintendent.

Pushes

Pushes are negative reasons a person would move towards a superintendency. One push towards this top position was due to mistreatment. Sylvia stated, "When I was a teacher, we had a principal that wasn't really always nice to people, you know, and I'm like, [you] can't treat people that way" (Individual Interview). Sylvia's push was also a result of "observ[ing] leaders who fell short in treating staff with the respect and support they deserved, a sense of responsibility emerged. Witnessing instances where educators and other staff were mistreated fueled my determination to pursue a position of influence" (Individual Questionnaire). Others were pushed into the position because of imminent need. Sara commented on a previous superintendent she worked under who left her position. It was a difficult time for Sara and the

district as she explained that this person impacted the administrative team, noting, "She was pulling us apart. She was very divisive when she came here. And, you know, we were pretty tight, the group of administrators that we had here" (Individual Interview). Seeking stability was another push noted as the high turnover of superintendents was problematic. "In a period of 10 years, we had six superintendents, and both the board and the educational community of my school district were looking for consistency and stability" (Individual Interview). Overall pushes led participants to take the position to make their district better by providing more professionalism, cohesiveness during tumultuous times, or stability within the district.

Pulls

The draw to the superintendent's seat was not that different from the pushes, though a more positive connotation was found in this data set. Chance wanted to be where he could be impactful as he delineated, "I guess early on, I kind of saw it as what would be most impactful, where could I have the greatest effect on helping kids" (Individual Interview). Theodon explained that "after 8 years of being a lieutenant to three different superintendents, I came to the conclusion that my time is now" (Individual Interview). Theodon further noted that "I wasn't interested in waiting around to become the superintendent in my own district" (Individual Interview). The prospect of a superintendent's role had internal pulls for some, such as Theodon, or external pulls from mentors or colleagues; as Paul stated, "I was an assistant superintendent in my early 30s. So [the superintendent] had said, hey, you know, the sky's the limit for you. You should really consider, you know, being superintendent down the road" (Individual Interview). Though not all pulls were a result of direct mentorship, each participant noted inspirational people, either professionally or personally, who encouraged the pursuit of the superintendency. Maci explained several people who pushed her towards the superintendency which was the,

"teacher's union president, current leadership team, current board of education members, my mom. If I had to choose one, it would be the teacher's union president" (Individual Questionnaire).

Career Development

This theme was generated from the different work experiences and career pacing participants explained regarding their journey. All study participants transitioned from educational to administrative positions except for one individual, who will be discussed in the next section. Theodon stated, "I was an English teacher [and then] I was an assistant principal in two different schools" (Individual Interview). Jaimie noted she "was a teacher for about ten years" prior to becoming "a literacy coach at the elementary level" (Individual Interview). Sara had a similar path expanding on her position when she said, "In my career path [I] was [a] teacher in special education, which was basically because of my father, who was a teacher, and I used to go to his classroom with him. I knew that I wanted to be a teacher" (Individual Interview). Sara further explained that she, "only had dreams of being a special education teacher" (Individual Questionnaire) but influential people who promoted further career development were, "my principal when I was a teacher, and an assistant superintendent and Superintendent when I was a principal. The BOE president was literally the one who offered me the position, encouraging me to accept" (Individual Questionnaire). Throughout the different journeys, teaching was a prominent theme along with central or district office administration among participants.

All the positions in career development are work experiences that were elaborated on by participants. Sara stated that as assistant superintendent, "all the workshops that we do with the board, the budget planning workshops, when we do the 5-year budget planning, those kinds of

workshops prepared me best for the mechanical part of it" (Individual Interview). Sylvia's career experience as a teacher was the "turning point for me. The realization that the only way to impact the educational system substantially was to step into a position where I could influence policies, culture, and overall leadership" (Individual Questionnaire). Many attribute the skills they honed and used as superintendents to specific times in their careers. Kaci's unique experience helped her as she noted, "I became a board member. And I think that was integral to the way that I work with the board now. That has absolutely helped me" (Individual Interview).

Outlier Data and Findings

Overall, a traditional journey to the superintendency was a career within the field of education, and each participant described their time as a teacher. Participants further described pushes and pulls as well as professionals who guided them along their journey. However, one outlier piece of data was provided by Maci, whose journey started in the corporate world. This start in corporate changed the typical entrance into education as Maci as she did not teach in a K–12 classroom.

Non-Traditional Path

Maci explained that her "journey is basically a very non-traditional path. And I did not go through the educational ranks as a public-school K–12 teacher. I actually came from the corporate environment" (Individual Interview). Before becoming an employee of a school district, Maci's interest was from the parental side. She stated she served:

On a budget advisory committee as the parent representative for my home school district.

And after the budget process was completed, the superintendent asked to meet with me and encouraged me to come into the field of business of education. (Individual Interview)

Thus, Maci came into the district as a school business official, starting her educational career in a

district level administrative position. Maci did not feel that was a negative piece of outlier information. She further noted, "I felt like I made smart decisions that were calculated in my career. And fortunately, those decisions were very positive and paid off" (Individual Interview).

Research Question Responses

The journey to a superintendent's positions in New York State's public-school districts is often characterized as traditional or typical, evolving from the role of educator to leadership roles in administration. Participants held a variety of administrative positions along their journey. Throughout these professional pathways, individuals encountered a variety of hurdles and opportunities that shaped their professional development, including mentorship, leadership skill development, and real-world work situations. Some superintendents articulated early career aspirations towards leadership, undertaking administrative and leadership courses or assuming roles such as union president within their school districts. However, for others, the path to the superintendency was a more unorthodox or unexpected one, where participants were pushed or pressured from district stakeholders. The motivations reveal the complexity between personal aspirations and external influences that shape the career trajectories of those striving to be school superintendents.

Central Research Question

How do school district leaders describe their lived experience during their journey to becoming a superintendent in New York?

The word *traditional* or *typical* was often used by participants when describing the journey. A traditional journey for this study includes a career move from teacher to administrator and then, superintendent. Nine out of 10 participants were K–12 educators prior to entering various administrative roles and the superintendency. The single outlier path, traveled by Maci,

who did not start her career as a classroom teacher, proved that though the overwhelming majority of superintendents start as educators, that is not the only experience a superintendent may have been involved with, nor the only place to find those seeking the position, as she noted, "I've always been the exception to the rule...I actually came from the corporate environment" (Individual Interview). However, this does not preclude encouraging potential superintendents from starting their careers teaching, as Macie "echo[ed] what [Paul] said...say[ing] it's in building your network for the decades prior to the superintendency" (Focus Group). Paul had explained, "the best place, is if you could find them [superintendent candidates], is within the district you're working in" (Focus Group).

Whether participants noted that they knew they would be a superintendent of schools early on or not, there were five categories of administrative roles, with at least one of which they had worked under. These roles included titles such as assistant principal, principal, curriculum director, executive director and assistant/deputy superintendent. At least one of the aforementioned titles were part of various paths in a person's journey to the superintendency, but Paul stated that, "There is no one correct pathway to the superintendency" (Individual Questionnaire). There were no consistent data points noted of which titles were most important or more valuable than others in traveling to the superintendent's position.

Participants' lived experiences included mentorship, development of leadership skills, and work situations, which provided the necessary tools to take on the superintendency successfully. Mentorship was part of the professional relationships almost all participants noted with the exception of Sylvia who stated:

My journey toward the superintendency was not marked by a lack of external influencers or mentors guiding my path. Rather than being inspired by a particular individual, my

motivation stemmed from a profoundly personal drive for self-preservation and a relentless commitment to positively impacting the educational landscape. (Individual Questionnaire)

All others stated that someone influenced them or pushed them towards achieving further in their educational careers, many of which were superintendents themselves as Sara noted her superintendent stated that she wanted her "to come to central office and do personnel" (Individual Interview). Sean built on the mentors that could be found when working in central office indicating that he found some "with the Superintendent's Association...[and] found that it was very beneficial to speak to someone outside your sphere" (Focus Group).

Sub-Question One

What were the motivations and career goals superintendents set before entering the field of education in a school district?

Superintendents who stated they knew early on in their career that they would place them in a superintendent position, career goals focused on acquiring leadership roles. Two of the 10 participants knew they were going to strive towards the superintendency early versus two others who did not hold higher administrative aspirations until they had been approached for the position. Kaci's goals were not based in education when she started her career as she "started [her] career in catering and really taking care of other people making sure that everyone was happy" (Individual Interview). Kaleb had goals to get a teaching position and then become an administrator, but it was it was years after acquiring a teaching position which was scarce:

I think I sent 400 resumes out my 1st year and then about 14 the following year. [Of] the 400, I got like three interviews. The following year, I got like seven interviews.

So, it showed that things were changing. I wound up getting a job in the...School

District as a social studies teacher. Five years later, I was doing my administrative License. (Individual Interview)

Eight out 10 of the participants started out as educators and did not know initially they would become a school district superintendent. However, as any administrative role has similar or identical prerequisites as far as higher education and state certification requirements, all participants took administrative and leadership courses through university or and began taking roles within their school district, such as union president as expressed by Sean in his individual interview. For the two superintendents, Sara and Sylvia, they were unaware they would end up in that position and were both concerned with their predecessor's leadership. Sara was approached by a BOE member with the directive "to keep the boat [district] afloat, keep the ship sailing...We just need someone to continue for the year" (Individual Interview) and Sylvia with a similar instruction from her BOE stating, "you're going to be the superintendent because you got us through this big storm" (Individual Interview).

Sub-Question Two

What are common pushes and pulls that lead educational professionals to pursue the position of school superintendent?

Two superintendents took on a superintendency as a push because either they or others in the district felt they would be a better option than current or future candidates. Sylvia and Sara noted that previous administration pushed them towards the superintendency as noted previously in quotes from their individual interviews. Seeking stability and professionalism within the district were typical pushes. Sylvia explained that her "superintendent decided he was going to be home for a while" (Individual Interview) during the COVID pandemic which created the push from her BOE into the superintendency. Stability was also being sought after by the district in

Sara's situation as she stated, "The BOE president was literally the one who offered me the position, encouraging me to accept" (Individual Questionnaire).

The pulls to superintendency predominantly surrounded attempts to doing the best for students, but within each participant's own way. Theodon commented on his pulls noting, "I actually believe that I can make a contribution and do good things for my district and do good things with the people who I'm working with here" (Individual Interview). When questioned on specific pulls, Paul explained, "I was interested in the position for quite some time. I really was. So that intellectual curiosity, the management of complexity, taking the next step, those were all positive" (Focus Group). Chance brought to light the fiscal motivation stating, "there was there was a financial incentive that definitely helped push me along, realizing I could make more money in that particular area" (Individual Interview). The broad scope of impact as a superintendent, fiscal decisions, and mentorships were common pulls for participants.

Sub-Question Three

What experiences most prepared district leaders for the superintendent role?

Participants explained their time in upper administrative roles, which prepared them as best as possible for a superintendent's role. Though all participants had higher education and post-graduate program experiences, many stated collegial level courses or programs had negligible to zero impact on their preparedness for the role of superintendent. Chance posited, "I don't think the college programs do an adequate job at all preparing for the superintendency" (Focus Group). Sean acknowledged Chance's statement noting that his work with previous superintendent gave him "about 12 credits, not on a transcript...I agree with [Chance as] policies are very, kind of sophisticated...[and] we just did case studies" (Focus Group). Kaci stressed, "Our current [higher educational] programs do not emphasize grit and determination...we need

to teach future superintendents about...local, state, and federal politics" (Individual Questionnaire).

However, all participants explained work experiences that best prepared them for the superintendency. Kaleb completed dissertation on the areas a superintendent most relies on, and he stated, "it's mostly experience, things that you've garnered over the course of your life and not just in their own profession" (Focus Group). Several noted that experiences in human resources and with the school business official were vital in their preparation. Chance stated he worked with a mentor who "was a superintendent...but he was also a business official" (Individual Interview). Chance did additional internship hours with this superintendent to "help me prepare me for that next step. I wanted more of a district perspective on how districts worked" (Individual Interview). Lastly, participants expanded on their work experiences that were helpful such as being in a role such as assistant superintendent. Assistant superintendent, or like roles, allowed for experiences to work with the BOE along with their superintendents at the time. Kaci noted that to survive in the superintendency "you will use everything you have learned from previous roles to be successful" (Individual Interview) and further noted that prior to a superintendency, candidates are "usually building principles for a couple of years and [then] assistant superintendent and superintendent" (Individual Interview). Chance supported the importance of work experience, especially with school BOE members noting that, "Much more attention needs to be dedicated to working with school boards" (Individual Questionnaire).

Summary

Specific examples crucial for those aspiring to be New York State public school superintendents were revealed during the analysis and synthesis of data. The importance of the main themes: professional relationships and skills, motivations and goals, and career

development were expounded upon, and subthemes emerged. The subthemes of mentorship, educational leadership and skills, pushes, and pulls were also found to be commonalities found within the analyzed data sets. Results indicated that despite minor differences in approaches, these factors were all essential for success in achieving the superintendent's role. Though not all findings are a necessity to be acquired or experienced, participants typically had a robust journey in a myriad of professional areas which provided the needed expertise to become a superintendent. Participants were motivated by a desire to excel in their responsibilities, supported by mentors and peers, and guided by a commitment to prioritizing what is best for students in decision-making processes. Overall, these findings highlight the multifaceted nature of the superintendent role, where technical expertise, interpersonal skills, and a strong ethical foundation are needed to drive effective leadership as a school superintendent.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences an individual encounters on their journey to becoming a superintendent at a school district in New York. The interpretation of findings is connected through the following three themes: professional relationships and skills, motivations and goals, and career development. The implications for policy or practices derived from these themes capture BOE initiatives to entice and select superintendent candidates as well as practices BOE members and aspiring superintendents can implement. The theoretical and empirical implications tie the PPM theory to the themes which describe the pushes and pulls superintendents experienced on their journey. The limitations and delimitation of the research and the recommendations for future research are delineated in the sections below.

Discussion

Interviewing superintendents provided detailed information to determine what it is like moving through a professional career and acquiring a superintendent's position. The overall pushes and pulls towards the position had similarities, though there were differences between each participant. Findings appeared to be pulls toward the position with more positive reasoning such as early desires for leadership or mentors urging the movement towards the superintendency. However, these findings did not omit pushes from part of the reasons why a person took their role as the school district's leader as found in other studies (Grissom et al., 2019). Three participants expressed that their time in the position resulted from a negative situation. However, it is critical to state that zero participants noted only one reason for taking on the superintendent role. There may have been one situation or a single reason that ultimately

made them make the appropriate career move, but none of them made the decision over time because of one push or pull.

Summary of Thematic Findings

The interpretation of this research study's results demonstrated how the themes and subthemes resonated with the participants' experiences, shaping their individual journey to the school superintendency through the lens of the PPM theory. The results of this study suggested that a minority of individuals, three out of 10, were not pushed away from, but rather pushed into the superintendency due to unfavorable conditions; where, the remaining participants were pulled into the positions because of favorable ones. Lee (1966) expanded on Ravenstein's theory by incorporating individual characteristics and personal responses to factors which are the individual responses participants shared common themes regarding professional relationships, motivations, and career development. Professional relationships and skills were broken into two sub-themes: mentorship and education and leadership skills. Motivations were descriptions of how or what pushed or pulled participants in the direction of the superintendency. Career development was generated from the different work experiences and career pacing participants explained regarding their journey The PPM theory provides as framework creating an understanding of the factors influencing career and personal decisions leading to a superintendency.

Internal and External Confidence

In the context of professional relationships and skills, individuals may be pushed to seek a superintendency due to challenges or limitations they observed in the superintendent they are serving under. Observation may impact the internal confidence of those seeking the superintendency, as they recognize areas where improvements could or should be made but feel

that their current role or their superintendent inhibits them. For instance, four of 10 participants faced constraints that limit their ability to fully utilize their skills and expertise, leading to feelings of frustration or eagerness sot move up which solidified their motivation to strive towards the school superintendency to enact the necessary changes perceived to be required. Maci noted the connections she had in the community and the vested interest she had in her district stating, "those other entities were all very positive with me moving from the business and deputy role into the superintendency. So it really was a community effort that they thought that I had the leadership skills" (Individual Interview). Conversely, the pull factors toward a superintendency could include opportunities for greater autonomy, leadership, and impact within the education system. These factors may bolster their external confidence, as the participant's vision widens as the superintendency becomes a more viable career move, they see themselves in to make a meaningful difference and exercise greater control over their professional environment. Theodon expressed confidence with two different statements, "I actually believe that I can make a contribution and do good things for my district and do good things with the people who I'm working with here," and "I really genuinely believe that I can help make a difference" (Individual Interview).

Motivation and goals also play a significant role in the journey to a superintendency. Push factors may include a desire for professional growth, career advancement, or the need to escape stagnation in one's current role (Gupta & Garg, 2021). These push factors can promote and individuals' internal confidence, prompting them to seek opportunities for growth and change. Jaimie noted concerns with superintendent applicants stating, "I was intrinsically motivated to say, they're not the right people for this place. They don't know this place like I do. They don't know what we've been through. They don't know where we're headed" (Individual

Interview). The pull factors may also bolster internal confidence as some participants shared their aspirations for making a broader impact on education, shaping policy, or driving systemic change beyond the classroom, building, or department, motivating them to the highest position in the school district.

Moving to such a high position likely requires the belief that a person can enact the changes they see needed. Career development is another key theme illuminated by the PPM theory as a pull factor. As individuals progress towards a superintendency, they may draw upon their educational experiences, mentorship relationships, and practical skills acquired through their career trajectories (Lin & Wu, 2021). Chance expanded his skills further than many of his colleagues by, "taking on, voluntarily on my own, an additional 200 or 250 hours additional internship experience" (Individual Interview). The PPM framework helps to contextualize these experiences within the broader narrative of migration of positions in education, which builds confidence as successes accumulate over a career. Both internal and external confidence play crucial roles in career development process, as individuals navigate the challenges and opportunities inherent in pursuing a leadership position in education (Gupta & Garg, 2021).

Some are Born; Some are Made

Participants had varying ideas of when they would seek the superintendency. Timing for seeking the superintendency was interpreted as a spectrum of plausible decisions to move towards this position. The spectrum was impacted by participants reflecting the diverse paths they have taken in their pursuit of educational leadership. For some, the aspiration to lead began early, fueled by a leadership vision and other leaders around providing examples of what to do or not to do. Chance directly noted the former stating, "I decided pretty early on I wanted to do administration" (Individual Interviews). In contrast, Sylvia was trying her best to support her

district as her superintendent retired and the lead position in the district was vacant. She stated that the BOE, "had to put out an ad for a superintendent and I said, I'll help them until they can find someone. Then they [BOE] finally said, well, you're going to do the job" (Individual Interviews).

Motivation and goals were driving forces behind the decision to pursue a superintendency (Gupta & Garg, 2021). Early starters set ambitious goals and actively seek opportunities to position themselves for leadership roles. Whereas others may stumble upon the superintendency later in their career journey, drawn by the prospect of making a broader impact on education and shaping policy especially when there was a need pertaining leadership. Sylvia was moored in her position as assistant superintendent and ended up moving to the superintendency saying, "I kind of like being assistant sup[erintendent], because I think it's a sense of your comfort zone. You have tenure, you're comfortable, but no good thing comes from comfort. I said, all right, I'll do what I need to do" (Individual Interviews). These late bloomers were inspired by new challenges or presented by unexpected opportunities from colleagues or BOE members, prompting them to reassess their career trajectory and pursue leadership roles they did not previously considered.

Early starters may possess an innate sense of confidence in their leadership abilities, cultivated through years of dedicated preparation and mentorship (Lin & Wu, 2021). Internal confidence propelled them forward, empowering them to navigate challenges and seize opportunities with conviction. In contrast, latecomers to the superintendency experienced a gradual buildup of confidence as they unknowingly approached a position they did not consider earlier in their career. External factors, such as mentorship relationships and career experiences, played a crucial role in bolstering participants confidence and affirming their readiness for leadership roles. Paul noted that one of his career experiences was part of a bigger plan stating,

"I became deputy superintendent. And when I became deputy superintendent, that was part of an overall succession planning for the BOE" (Individual Interview).

Ultimately, whether individuals are born with an innate drive for leadership or made through their experiences and circumstances, their journey towards the superintendency is shaped by a complex interplay of motivations, aspirations, and evolving confidence in their abilities. By recognizing and embracing the diversity of paths to leadership, potential or aspiring superintendents can be found in both likely and unlikely positions in an around education. Kaci noted the diverse path she took stating, "I think that is the big takeaway. The only position I have not done has been an athletic director, but everything else I've done. And now sitting in this role, I look back and I am so thankful" (Individual Interview).

Implications for Policy or Practice

Implications for policy and practices support preparing or selecting strong candidates may be dependent on the stakeholder's position, for example, most likely a BOE member. The preparation will most likely require funding for future superintendent training/mentorship programs or stakeholder hiring training such as for BOE members. By integrating research-backed leadership training programs into policy and practices, stakeholders and aspiring superintendents can ensure they are selecting or creating educational leaders capable of driving positive change and enhancing student outcomes in school districts.

Implications for Policy

Setting a policy for a person's journey to attain a superintendency may be difficult as it is improbable that a school district would make a policy for potential candidates' years in advance of performing a hiring search. However, a policy may require hiring bodies such as a BOE to understand the motivating factors, leadership styles better, and pushes and pulls towards the

superintendency position so they can better understand each candidate. The better BOE members are able to identify important factors they are seeking in candidates, the better chance they have at selecting the best candidate for the tasks they are looking to complete.

Policymakers should allocate resources to develop leadership training programs, specifically for aspiring superintendents, that encompass a diverse range of leadership styles, including instrumental, change, servant, transformational, and adaptive leadership. Seven of 10 participants noted training such as advanced communication, school finance, and robust internships as recommendations to improve current programs. Any training or educational program should come with a system for evaluating the effectiveness of aspiring superintendents' leadership styles in achieving educational goals and fostering positive workplace cultures.

Evaluations could involve regular assessments of leadership practices and their impact on student outcomes, staff morale, and community engagement (Hyseni Duraku & Hoxha, 2021; Kock et al., 2019). These programs should be informed by research on effective leadership practices.

As nine of 10 participants originated from the classroom, hiring committees may be biased towards candidates that do not come from that background. Policies should be developed to mitigate biases and prejudices in the hiring process for superintendent positions. Training programs for hiring committees, such as for BOE members, and creating standardized evaluation criteria, can help ensure that hiring decisions are based on skills and practices that align with the district's culture and goals.

Implications for Practice

Aspiring superintendents could create goals with a plan that captures their leadership style(s) and combines those styles with how they will enact positive change resulting in sustained student success. All participants noted the importance of leadership and directly spoke to or

inferred that understanding leadership proficiencies in oneself can assist in troubleshooting areas of weakness, bolster areas of strength, help candidates for the superintendency better understand how to advocate how they would improve a district to stakeholders as well as seeking out opportunities for mentorship (Adnan & Valliappan, 2019). Based on the findings, decision makers in public school districts should commit to continuous learning and professional development trainings to assist future superintendents to identify emerging trends and best practices in educational leadership. Continuous learning and trainings may involve participating in conferences, workshops, and networking events to exchange ideas and learn from peers and experts, in other words, creating a mentorship program (Adamovic et al., 2020). The object would be to train future superintendents including those for higher level administrative positions such as assistant superintendents as well.

All participants worked in a district level administrative capacity prior to securing a superintendent's position. Future superintendents could use this information to move into higher administrative positions to collaborate with stakeholders, fostering a positive school to community culture, a reputation for strong leadership skills, and shared decision-making. Information finding involves actively seeking input from staff, students, parents, and community members and integrating their perspectives into decision-making processes (Heifetz & Linsky, 2017; Rubin, 2020). Cultivating problem solving skills help to create healthy opportunities to engage in the decision-making processes for districts by embracing a proactive approach to needed changes by seeking input from differing stakeholder perspectives (Garavaglia et al., 2021; Heifetz & Linsky, 2017).

Empirical and Theoretical Implications

The findings of this study have both empirical and theoretical implications. These implications comprise of the essential skills, traits, and theoretical underpinnings that result from studying the journey of a person towards a school superintendent's position. By integrating theoretical perspectives such as the PPM theory with empirical data gleaned from real-world experiences, this section seeks to address the empirical and theoretical implications of the study. Through triangulating data from 10 sources and synthesizing key findings, I aim to offer a holistic understanding of superintendent preparation and selection, empowering stakeholders to make informed decisions and enact evidence-based policies to create premier candidates for the superintendent's position.

Empirical Implications

By identifying key developmental experiences, such as early career aspirations, mentorship relationships, and adaptive challenges faced along the journey, educational stakeholders can design targeted interventions to support aspiring superintendents in their professional growth. These targeted interventions may open a path to categorizing those with the potential to strive toward the position. Moreover, recognizing the personal motivations, external influences, and leadership competencies that effect aspiring superintendents, enable the recognition of differing pathways for various candidates to pursue superintendency (Gupta & Garg, 2021; Hoch et al., 2018).

As there is not literature describing the specific journey to the school superintendency, this study may provide an opportunity for educators thinking of moving toward the position to compare their journey or a possible path to the participants in this study who have already done it. Comparison can be important to both the individual's journey but also the school district they

may lead in the future. By conducting further research into the longitudinal career trajectories and leadership development experiences of superintendents, scholars can contribute to filling gaps in the existing literature and advancing theoretical frameworks in educational leadership. By disseminating the findings from empirical studies on leadership, policymakers and educational institutions can create more evidence-based policies and practices to cultivate a stronger and more effective superintendents (Heifetz & Linsky, 2017; Kotter, 2012). Through collaborative efforts between researchers, practitioners, and policymakers, the field of educational leadership can evolve to meet the evolving needs of schools and communities, using the PPM theory as a guiding framework for understanding what influences people to become school superintendents (Gupta & Garg, 2021). Previous research on superintendent's focused on skills, attrition, or the impacts people had as a superintendent where this study focused on how people get the position. This study adds to the sparse information regarding school superintendents by providing more details on those who sought and accomplished their goal to work as a superintendent.

Another theory that could be used in understanding the journey and choices people make on their pathway to the superintendency is the social cognitive career theory as it focuses on the career choices that are influenced by interactions between personal characteristics, environmental factors, and behavior. The social cognitive career theory emphasizes self-efficacy beliefs, outcome expectations, and goals as crucial determinants of career development and advancement (Wending & Sagas, 2020). This theory may be beneficial if future research is conducted to seek the reasons behind setting the superintendency as a goal and focusing on ways to attain said position.

Theoretical Implications

The role of the superintendent should be examined closely to ensure a school district's most prominent decision-maker has the adequate skillset in a place of power. All 10 of 10 participants noted the need to strengthen the training for potential superintendents. Leadership development programs can better prepare aspiring superintendents for the complexities of the role by incorporating skills and traits are essential, such as strong communication skills, ability to problem-solve, and strengthening collaboration. Understanding various leadership styles can inform policies aimed at selecting potential superintendents and assist in grooming future candidates so they are better equipped to lead school districts (Avolio, 2007; Heifetz & Linsky, 2017). As there is limited research on a person's journey to the school superintendency, my study adds to field with themes from the descriptions of how superintendents attained their positions. The use of the PPM theory offers a framework for examining the factors, that combine with the aforementioned skills and traits, that influence individuals' decisions to pursue or resist migratory behavior into the school superintendency positions (Gupta & Garg, 2021). The information from this study solidifies the pushes and pulls that other students have noted regarding movement in careers. This study does not diverge much from extant theory as the PPM theory is currently in use and was applicable to this research.

Limitations and Delimitations

Limitations in research studies encompass potential weaknesses of the study that lie outside the researcher's sphere of influence (Peoples, 2020). The limitations of this study were, most notably, the scheduling for the focus group. Scheduling was a significant factor in gaining participants, but it was most difficult to gain enough participants for the focus group. Each participant held employment full-time with the exception of one. However, all had employment

obligations, which spanned various hours of the day. The robust schedules each participant had required multiple attempts to gain full participation. The data was collected from January to March, the budget season for school districts in the region of study which may have contributed the inability to complete multiple focus groups. Thus, timing in addition to scheduling was difficult. Having more focus groups would have helped to ensure adequate representation of participants with diverse backgrounds and enhancing the validity and applicability of my study's findings (Gupta & Garg, 2021; Lin et al., 2021).

Delimitations refer to the specific parameters or boundaries set by the researcher to define the scope and focus of a qualitative research study (Peoples, 2020). The region and sample size were delimitations of the study. I did not travel outside of the state, and participants were selected from two counties, one of which I reside in. The rational for these delimitations were based on the convenience sampling model. As participants produced contact information for other potential participants, all contacts were within the aforementioned counites, thus not requiring interstate travel by the researcher. The study's focus on superintendents within a specific geographic region may limit findings to other contexts with different educational systems, governing structures, and cultural norms.

Separately, another delimitation was the decision to only include participants who are or were superintendents in New York State. I did not include those currently on the journey towards the superintendency. The primary reason is that some candidates may not be successful in achieving this goal. The intention is to gather information from those who successfully reached the superintendent position. The secondary reason is that some of those who are going to become superintendent in the future may not know it yet, as three participants from this study explicitly explained that they did not aspire for the position.

Recommendations for Future Research

This research study's findings, limitations, and delimitations provided three potential areas for future research: training and education, expanding into other regions, or motivation. Future research could include the area of superintendent training/education or the creating more robust, formal mentorships. Superintendents currently have programs they can attend throughout the state, but that is only once they attain the position. Mentorship was an essential part of almost all participants, and perhaps further research could shed light on a potential program to prepare people for a superintendent position. Administrative programs in the state certify you for building-level and district-level positions. The district-level positions could be anything from a director to an assistant superintendent or a superintendent. A mentorship program for those seeking a superintendency may be beneficial and research in this area could help shape what a program would entail.

Future studies could consider expanding the scope to include superintendents from diverse regions and backgrounds to enhance the breadth and depth of the journey superintendents embark on. Conducting comparative studies across multiple states or regions could offer valuable insights into the variations and commonalities in superintendent experiences and leadership approaches (Wang et al., 2022).

Another avenue for future research may be in the area of motivation. Motivation can be blended with the push-pull theory to determine specific motivators that drive a superintendent's decision to take the job. The other way motivation could be studied is by using a motivation evaluative tool to rate teachers, administrators, and assistant superintendents to compare them to superintendents to see if motivation ratings vary the higher up the hierarchical ladder someone in education travels quantitatively instead of qualitatively. Future research could also benefit from a

larger and more diverse sample to capture a broader range of perspectives and experiences among superintendents across different regions and school districts (Björk et al., 2014).

Conclusion

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences an individual encounters on their journey to becoming a superintendent at a school district in New York. Through detailed interviews, questionnaires, and focus groups, three primary themes were identified. My most significant understanding derived from the journey is that the pushes and pulls impact people in a variety of ways. Two significant implications were the need for advanced training in a multitude of areas and more robust mentorships while pursuing the superintendency. Advanced training can provide needed information that is not gained through current educational programs based on participants' responses. A robust educational program with mentorship can support the deficits participants noted and support those taking on the superintendent's position to better support students, teachers, and the district.

The theoretical and empirical implications of this study aligned with the PPM theory, shedding light on the factors that influence peoples' decisions to pursue or resist migratory behavior into superintendent positions. Understanding the interplay between internal and external confidence, motivations, and career trajectories can inform targeted interventions to support aspiring superintendents in their professional growth. Collaborative efforts between researchers, practitioners, and school district stakeholders will be essential in advancing the field of educational leadership, using the PPM theory as a guiding framework for understanding the complex dynamics of successfully attaining at school superintendency. Through these endeavors, we can work towards fostering a new generation of skilled and effective educational leaders capable of meeting the expeditiously evolving needs of schools and communities. The lived

experiences that current and former superintendents describe provide a new lens to look through when creating future training opportunities, mentorships, and motivations for those who aspire to reach such a prominent position in public school districts.

References

- Adamovic, M., Gahan, P., Olsen, J. E., Harley, B., Healy, J., & Theilacker, M. (2020). Bringing the leader back in: Why, how, and when leadership empowerment behavior shapes coworker conflict. *Group & Organization Management*, *45*(5), 599–636. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601120917589
- Addi-Raccah, A. (2015). School principals' role in the interplay between the superintendents and local education authorities: The case of Israel. *Journal of Educational Administration*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JEA-10-2012-0107
- Adnan, S. N. S. M., & Valliappan, R. (2019). Communicating shared vision and leadership styles towards enhancing performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 68(6), 1042–1056. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-05-2018-0183
- Alsbury, T. L. (2003). Superintendent and school board member turnover: Political versus apolitical turnover as a critical variable in the application of the dissatisfaction theory. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *39*(5), 667–698. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X03257141
- Aluwihare-Samaranayake, D. (2012). Ethics in qualitative research: A view of the participants' and researchers' world from a critical standpoint. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11(2), 64–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691201100208
- Anderson, H. J., Baur, J. E., Griffith, J. A., & Buckley, M. R. (2017). What works for you may not work for (gen)me: Limitations of present leadership theories for the new generation. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 28(1), 245–260.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.08.001

- Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational–transactional leadership theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(4), 746–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.04.005
- Asada, Y., Hughes, A., Read, M., Schwartz, M., Schermbeck, R., Turner, L., & Chriqui, J. (2021). "On a positive path": School superintendents' perceptions of and experiences with local school wellness policy implementation and evaluation. *Health Promotion Practice*, 22(6), 880–889. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839920907559
- Avolio, B. J. (2007). Promoting more integrative strategies for leadership theory-building. *American Psychologist*, 62(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.62.1.25
- Awa, W. L., Plaumann, M., & Walter, U. (2010). Burnout prevention: A review of intervention programs. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 78(2), 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2009.04.008
- Baker, B. D., Punswick, E., & Belt, C. (2010). School leadership stability, principal moves, and departures: Evidence from Missouri. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 46(4), 523–557. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X10383832
- Bansal, H. S., Taylor, S. F., & James, Y. S. (2005). "Migrating" to new service providers:

 Toward a unifying framework of consumers' switching behaviors. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 33(1), 96–115.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070304267928
- Bartanen, B., Grissom, J. A., Joshi, E., & Meredith, M. (2018). Mapping inequalities in local political representation: Evidence from Ohio school boards. *AERA Open*, *4*(4), Article 233285841881807. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858418818074

- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership.

 *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 8(1), 9–32.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398410
- Bass, B. M. (2000). The future of leadership in learning organizations. *Journal of leadership studies*, 7(3), 18–40. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F107179190000700302
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). *Transformational leadership* (2nd ed.). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410617095
- Baxter, P., Ely, T. L., & Teske, P. (2019). Redesigning Denver's schools: The rise and fall of superintendent Tom Boasberg. *Education Next: A Journal of Opinion and Research*, 19(2), 8–21. https://www.educationnext.org/journal/spring-2019-vol-19-no-2/
- Bekir, I., & Doss, F. (2020). Status quo bias and attitude towards risk: An experimental investigation. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, 41(5), 827–838. https://doi.org/10.1002/mde.3140
- Benna, J. V., & Hambacher, E. (2022). Foundations of superintendent trustworthiness:

 Perspectives of elementary school principals. *Journal of School Leadership*, 32(2), 148–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/1052684620980357
- Benson, A., & Rissing, B. A. (2020). Strength from within: Internal mobility and the retention of high performers. *Organization Science*, *31*(6), 1475–1496.

 https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2020.1362
- Berkovich, I., & Bogler, R. (2020). The relationship between school leadership standards and school administration imperatives: An international perspective. *School Leadership & Management*, 40(4), 321–334. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2019.1682538

- Bird, J. J., Dunaway, D. M., Hancock, D. R., & Wang, C. (2013). The superintendent's leadership role in school improvement: Relationships between authenticity and best practices. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, *12*(1), 77–99.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2013.766348
- Bird, J. J., & Wang, C. (2013). Superintendents describe their leadership styles: Implications for practice. *Management in Education*, 27(1), 14–18.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0892020612459287
- Björk, L. G. (1993). Effective schools-effective superintendents: The emerging instructional leadership role. *Journal of School Leadership*, *3*(3), 246–259. https://doi.org/10.1177/105268469300300303
- Björk, L. G., Browne-Ferrigno, T., & Kowalski, T. J. (2014). The superintendent and educational reform in the United States of America. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, *13*(4), 444–465. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2014.945656
- Björk, L. G., Browne-Ferrigno, T., & Kowalski, T. J. (2018). Superintendent roles as CEO and team leader. *Research in Educational Administration and Leadership*, *3*(2), 179–205. https://doi.org/10.30828/real/2018.2.3
- Bock, W. (2018). Reflections of a principal and supply superintendent of schools in the northwest territories (1957–1966) and a supply superintendent of schools in the province of Alberta (1967–1969): A comparison. *Religious Studies and Theology*, *37*(2), 224–235. https://doi.org/10.1558/rsth.37603
- Bolman, L. G., & Deal, T. E. (2017). *Reframing organization: artistry, choice and leadership* (6th ed.). Jossey-Bass & Pfeiffer Imprints, Wiley.
- Boyce, J., & Bowers, A. J. (2016). Principal turnover: Are there different types of principals who

- move from or leave their schools? A latent class analysis of the 2007–2008 schools and staffing survey and the 2008–2009 principal follow-up survey. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 15(3), 237–272. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2015.1047033
- Boylan, M. (2018). Enabling adaptive system leadership: Teachers leading professional development. *Educational Management, Administration & Leadership*, 46(1), 86–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143216628531
- Bredeson, P. V., & Kose, B. W. (2007). Responding to the education reform agenda: A study of school superintendents' instructional leadership. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 15(5), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v15n5.2007
- Buonomo, I., Farnese, M. L., Vecina, M. L., & Benevene, P. (2021). Other-focused approach to teaching. The effect of ethical leadership and quiet ego on work engagement and the mediating role of compassion satisfaction. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 692116–692116. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.692116
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Torchbooks.
- Burns, J. M. (2003). *Transforming leadership: A new pursuit of happiness*. Atlantic Monthly Press.
- Bush, T. (2018). Transformational leadership: Exploring common conceptions. *Educational Management, Administration & Leadership*, 46(6), 883–887.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143218795731
- Bush, T. (2021). Assessing successful school leadership: What do we know? *Educational Management, Administration & Leadership*, 49(5), 687–689. https://doi.org/10.1177/17411432211034675
- Carter, G. R., & Cunningham, W. G. (1997). The American school superintendent: Leading in an

- age of pressure. The Jossey-Bass Education Series.
- Caza, A., & Posner, B. Z. (2019). How and when does grit influence leaders' behavior? *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(1), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-06-2018-0209
- Celine, S., Dominic, M. M., & Devi, M. S. (2020). Logistic regression for employability prediction. *International Journal of Innovative Technology and Exploring*Engineering, 9(3), 2471–2478. https://doi.org/10.35940/ijitee.C8170.019320
- Cheng, S., Lee, S. J., & Choi, B. (2019). An empirical investigation of users' voluntary switching intention for mobile personal cloud storage services based on the push-pull-mooring framework. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 92, 198–215.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.10.035
- Choi, Y., & Park, N. K. (2020). Examining the pull, the push, and their simultaneous effects on managerial turnover. *Management Decision*, 58(12), 2639–2654. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-06-2019-0822
- Cieminski, A. B. (2018). Practices that support leadership succession and principal retention. *Education Leadership Review*, *19*(1), 21–41. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1200804.pdf
- Clayton, J. K., Sanzo, K. L., & Myran, S. (2013). Understanding mentoring in leadership development: Perspectives of district administrators and aspiring leaders. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 8(1), 77–96.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1942775112464959

- Cobern, W., & Adams, B. (2020). When interviewing: How many is enough? *International Journal of Assessment Tools in Education*, 7(1), 73–79.

 https://doi.org/10.21449/ijate.693217
- Cohen, R. (1996). Theories of migration. Cheltenham Publish.
- Connolly, M., James, C., & Fertig, M. (2019). The difference between educational management and educational leadership and the importance of educational responsibility. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 47(4), 504–519.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143217745880
- Conner, D. R. (1993). Managing at the speed of change: How resilient managers succeed and prosper where others fail. Random House.
- Creed, P., Sawitri, D. R., Hood, M., & Hu, S. (2021). Career goal setting and goal pursuit in young adults: The role of financial distress. *Journal of Career Development*, 48(6), 801–816. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845319897136
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Pearson Education, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Davis, B. W., & Bowers, A. J. (2019). Examining the career pathways of educators with superintendent certification. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 55(1), 3–41. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X18785872
- Davis, B. W., Gooden, M. A., & Bowers, A. J. (2017). Pathways to the principalship: An event

history analysis of the careers of teachers with principal certification. *American Educational Research Journal*, *54*(2), 207–240. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831216687530

- Davis, S. H. (1998). Climbing the administrative career ladder: Who goes up might come down. *NASSP Bulletin*, 82(602), 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1177/019263659808260208
- De Haas, H. (2010). Migration and development: A theoretical perspective. *International Migration Review*, 44(1), 227–264. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2009.00804.x
- Decman, J. M., Badgett, K., Shaughnessy, B., Randall, A., Nixon, L., & Lemley, B. (2018).

 Organizational leadership through management: Superintendent perceptions. *Educational Management, Administration & Leadership*, 46(6), 997–1013.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143217714255
- Dinh, J. E., Lord, R. G., Gardner, W. L., Meuser, J. D., Liden, R. C., & Hu, J. (2014). Leadership theory and research in the new millennium: Current theoretical trends and changing perspectives. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 36–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.005
- D'Souza, J., & Gurin, M. (2016). The universal significance of Maslow's concept of self actualization. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 44(2), 210–21. https://doi.org/10.1037/hum0000027
- Duncan, C. (2020). Silence and disclosure: A transcendental phenomenological study into the experience of workplace coaching whilst facing stressful life events at home.

 International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring, S14, 119–131.

 https://doi.org/10.24384/jzkh-5k02
- Duties of a Superintendent of Schools. (1921). Journal of Education, 94(9), 231–

- 231. https://doi.org/10.1177/002205742109400904
- Effendi, Y. R., Bafadal, I., Sudana, I. N. S., & Arifin, I. (2020). Humanistic approach to principal's leadership and its impacts in character education strengthening. *Humanities & Social Sciences Reviews*, 8(2), 533–545. https://doi.org/10.18510/hssr.2020.8261
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., Van Dierendonck, D., & Liden, R. C. (2019). Servant leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(1), 111–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004
- Fan, L., Zhang, X., Rai, L., & Du, Y. (2021). Mobile payment: The next frontier of payment systems? An empirical study based on push-pull-mooring framework. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 16(2), 155–169.
 https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-18762021000200111
- Farley-Ripple, E. N., Raffel, J. A., & Welch, J. C. (2012). Administrator career paths and decision processes. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *50*(6), 788–816. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1108/09578231211264694
- FitzGerald, A. M., & Militello, M. (2016). Preparing school leaders to work with and in community. *The School Community Journal*, 26(2), 107–134.

 <a href="https://go.openathens.net/redirector/liberty.edu?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/preparing-school-leaders-work-with-community/docview/1862999720/se-2?accountid=12085</p>
- Flood, L. D., & Angelle, P. S. (2022). Of school boards and superintendents. *The Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 25(1), 45–60.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/15554589211034551

- Fortenberry, E. (2022). A phenomenological study of the lived experiences of black superintendents in selected public school [Doctoral dissertation, Fayetteville State University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.

 https://go.openathens.net/redirector/liberty.edu?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/phenomenological-study-lived-experiences-black/docview/2747280335/se-2
- Francois, J., Sisler, J., & Mowat, S. (2018). Peer-assisted debriefing of multisource feedback: An exploratory qualitative study. *BMC Medical Education*, *18*(1), 1–7.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-018-1137-y
- Friedman, H. (2011). The myth behind the subject leader as a school key player. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 17(3), 289–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2011.554701
- Fu, J. R. (2011). Understanding career commitment of IT professionals: Perspectives of push—pull—mooring framework and investment model. *International Journal of Information Management*, 31(3), 279–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2010.08.008
- Fusarelli, B. C. (2006). School board and superintendent relations: Issues of continuity, conflict, and community. *The Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 9(1), 44–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458905285011
- Galinha-de-Sá, F. L. F. R., & Velez, M. A. M. R B A. (2022). Van Kaam's phenomenology:

 Theoretical-methodological contributions to nursing research. *Revista Gaúcha De Enfermagem*, 43. https://doi.org/10.1590/1983-1447.2022.20220135.en
- Garavaglia, C., Sancino, A., & Trivellato, B. (2021). Italian mayors and the management of COVID-19: Adaptive leadership for organizing local governance. *Eurasian Geography and Economics*, 62(1), 76–92. https://doi.org/10.1080/15387216.2020.1845222

- García Iriarte, E., Díaz Garolera, G., Salmon, N., Donohoe, B., Singleton, G., Murray, L., Dillon, M., Burke, C., Leddin, N., Sullivan, M., & Spelman, M. (2023). How we work:
 Reflecting on ten years of inclusive research. *Disability & Society*, 38(2), 205–227.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2021.1907546
- Glass, T. E. (2001). *The superintendent crisis: A review by search consultants*. ECS Issue Paper: Leadership.
- Griffen, L. (2022). *Milestones in AASA's history*. American Association of School Administrators. https://aasa.org/history.aspx
- Grigg, D. B. (1977). E. G. Ravenstein and the "laws of migration." *Journal of Historical Geography*, 3(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-7488(77)90143-8
- Grissom, J. A., & Andersen, S. (2012). Why superintendents turn over. *American Educational Research Journal*, 49(6), 1146–1180. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831212462622
- Grissom, J. A., & Bartanen, B. (2019). Principal effectiveness and principal turnover. *Education Finance and Policy*, *14*(3), 355–382. https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00256
- Grissom, J. A., Bartanen, B., & Mitani, H. (2019). Principal sorting and the distribution of principal quality. *AERA Open*, *5*(2), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2332858419850094
- Grissom, J. A., & Mitani, H. (2016). Salary, performance, and superintendent turnover. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *52*(3), 351–391. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X15627677
- Goldring, E., Cravens, X., Porter, A., Murphy, J., & Elliott, S. (2015). The convergent and divergent validity of the Vanderbilt assessment of leadership in education (VAL-ED):

 Instructional leadership and emotional intelligence. *Journal of Educational*

- Administration, 53(2), 177–196. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-06-2013-0067
- Görgens-Ekermans, G., & Roux, C. (2021). Revisiting the emotional intelligence and transformational leadership debate: (How) does emotional intelligence matter to effective leadership? SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 19(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v19i0.1279
- Guest, G., Namey E., McKenna K. 2017. How many focus groups are enough? Building an evidence base for nonprobability sample sizes. *Field Methods*, 29, 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x16639015
- Gupta, J., & Garg, K. (2021). Reflections on blended learning in management education: A qualitative study with a push-pull migration perspective. *FIIB Business Review*, Article 231971452110136. https://doi.org/10.1177/23197145211013686
- Gurr, D., Drysdale, L., & Goode, H. (2022). An open systems model of successful school leadership. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 60(1), 21–40. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-04-2021-0091
- Hage, J., & Posner, B. Z. (2015). Religion, religiosity, and leadership practices: An examination in the Lebanese workplace. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 36(4), 396–412. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2013-0096
- Hagen-Zanker, J. (2008). Why do people migrate? A review of the theoretical literature. *Maastrcht Graduate School of Governance Working Paper No.* 28197. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/28197/
- Haldorai, K., Kim, W. G., Pillai, S. G., Park, T., & Balasubramanian, K. (2019). Factors affecting hotel employees' attrition and turnover: Application of pull-push-mooring framework. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 83, 46–55.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2019.04.003

- Halliwell, P., Mitchell, R., & Boyle, B. (2022). Interrelations between enhanced emotional intelligence, leadership self-efficacy and task-oriented leadership behaviour—a leadership coaching study. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 43(1), 39–56.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2021-0036
- Hamilton, A. K., Pernía, D. M., Puyol Wilson, C., & Ca'r'sc' Dell'Aquila, D. (2019). What makes metalheads happy? A phenomenological analysis of flow experiences in metal musicians. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 16(4), 537–565.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2017.1416210
- Hardy, I., & Salo, P. (2022). The particularity of practice: Superintendents' agency for school development. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 25(2), 211–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2019.1629696
- Hay, C. (2016). Good in a crisis: The ontological institutionalism of social constructivism. *New Political Economy*, 21(6), 520–535. https://doi.org/10.1080/13563467.2016.1158800
- Hassi, A. (2019). Empowering leadership and management innovation in the hospitality industry context: The mediating role of climate for creativity. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *31*(4), 1785–1800. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2018-0003
- Heffernan, A. (2021). Retaining Australia's school leaders in 'challenging' contexts: The importance of personal relationships in principal turnover decisions. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 105, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2020.101716
- Heffernan, A., Bright, D., Kim, M., Longmuir, F., & Magyar, B. (2022). 'I cannot sustain the workload and the emotional toll': Reasons behind Australian teachers' intentions to leave

- the profession. *The Australian Journal of Education*, 66(2), 196–209. https://doi.org/10.1177/00049441221086654
- Heifetz, R. A., Grashow, A., & Linsky, M. (2009). The practice of adaptive leadership: Tools and tactics for changing your organization and the world. Harvard Business Press.
- Heifetz, R., & Linsky, M. (2017). Leadership on the line, with a new preface: Staying alive through the dangers of change. Harvard Business Press.
- Henriksen, Ø. H., & Aas, M. (2021). Enhancing system thinking a superintendent and three principals reflecting with a critical friend. *Educational Action Research*, 29(5), 804–819. https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2020.1724813
- Henrikson, R. (2021). Reflections on school board evaluation practices to support meaningful feedback for superintendent growth and improvement. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/19427751211002234
- Hoch, J. E., Bommer, W. H., Dulebohn, J. H., & Wu, D. (2018). Do ethical, authentic, and servant leadership explain variance above and beyond transformational leadership? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Management*, 44(2), 501–529.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316665461
- Hoffman, M., Kahn, L. B., & Li, D. (2018). Discretion in hiring. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 133(2), 765–800. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjx042
- Hodge, K., & Larwin, K. H. (2020). Leadership styles of superintendents in the developmental disability system in Ohio. *Journal of Organizational and Educational Leadership*, 6(1), 1–25. https://digitalcommons.gardner-webb.edu/joel/vol6/iss1/2
- Holmes Jr, R. M., Hitt, M. A., Perrewé, P. L., Palmer, J. C., & Molina-Sieiro, G. (2021).

 Building cross-disciplinary bridges in leadership: Integrating top executive personality

- and leadership theory and research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *32*(1), Article 101490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2020.101490
- Holmes, W. T., Parker, M., Olsen, J. J., & Khojasteh, J. (2021). The effect of rural superintendent credibility on principal and district outcomes mediated by motivating language. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 59(6), 776–793. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-02-2021-0038
- Horsford, S. D. (2010). Mixed feelings about mixed schools: Superintendents on the complex legacy of school desegregation. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 46(3), 287–321. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X1036582
- Howley, A., Andrianaivo, S., & Perry, J. (2005). The pain outweighs the gain: Why teachers don't want to become principals. *Teachers College Record*, 107(4), 757–782. https://doi.org/10.1177/016146810510700408
- Hoy, W., & Miskel, C. (2005). *Contemporary issues in school policy and school outcomes*. Information Age Publishing.
- Hozien, W. (2019). Superintendent case studies: Creating meaningful engagement. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Hyseni Duraku, Z., & Hoxha, L. (2021). Impact of transformational and transactional attributes of school principal leadership on teachers' motivation for work. *Frontiers in Education*. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.659919
- Jackson, S. E., Schwab, R. L., & Schuler, R. S. (1986). Toward an understanding of the burnout phenomenon. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(4), Article 630.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.71.4.630
- Janis, I. (2022). Strategies for establishing dependability between two qualitative intrinsic case

- studies: A reflexive thematic analysis. *Field Methods*, *34*(3), 240–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X211069636
- Jennings, K., & Stahl-Wert, J. (2016). *The serving leader: Five powerful actions to transform your team, business, and community*. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Jiménez, T. R., & Orozco, M. (2021). Prompts, not questions: Four techniques for crafting better interview protocols. *Qualitative Sociology*, 44(4), 507–528.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-021-09483-2
- Judge, T. A., & Piccolo, R. F. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: A metaanalytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(5), 755–768. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755
- Kalbus, J. C. (2000). Path to the superintendency. *Urban Education*, *35*(5), 549–556. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085900355005
- Kamrath, B. (2022). Revisiting the revolving door of rural superintendent turnover. *The Rural Educator*, 43(2), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.55533/2643-9662.1325
- Kim, Y., & Brunner, C. C. (2009). School administrators career mobility to the superintendency:

 Gender differences in career development. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 47(1),

 75–107. https://doi.org/10.1108/09578230910928098
- Kim, S., Choi, M. J., & Choi, J. S. (2020). Empirical study on the factors affecting individuals' switching intention to augmented/virtual reality content services based on push-pull-mooring theory. *Information*, 11(1), Article 25. https://doi.org/10.3390/info11010025
- King, N., & Horrocks, C. (2010). *Interviews in Qualitative Research*. SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208963

- Kiral, E. (2020). Excellent leadership theory in education. *Journal of Educational Leadership* and *Policy Studies*, 4(1), 1–30. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1282716.pdf
- Kirkpatick, S. A., & Locke, E. A. (1991). Leadership: Do traits matter? *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 5(2), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.1991.4274679
- Kirkwood, J. (2009). Motivational factors in a push-pull theory of entrepreneurship. *Gender in Management*, 24(5), 346–364. https://doi.org/10.1108/17542410910968805
- Kock, N., Mayfield, M., Mayfield, J., Sexton, S., & De La Garza, L. M. (2019). Empathetic leadership: How leader emotional support and understanding influences follower performance. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 26(2), 217–236. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051818806290
- Kotter, J. P. (2012). Leading change. Harvard Business Review Press.
- Kowalski, T. (2006). *The school superintendent: Theory, practice, and cases* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Kwan, P. (2020). Is transformational leadership theory passé? Revisiting the integrative effect of instructional leadership and transformational leadership on student outcomes. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *56*(2), 321–349. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X19861137
- Lee, E. S. (1966). A theory of migration. *Demography*, *3*(1), 47–57. https://doi.org/10.2307/2060063
- Ledesma, J. (2014). Conceptual frameworks and research models on resilience in leadership. *SAGE Open*, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014545464
- Leithwood, K., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (2020). Seven strong claims about successful school leadership revisited. *School Leadership & Management*, 40(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2019.1596077

- Lin, C. L., Jin, Y. Q., Zhao, Q., Yu, S. W., & Su, Y. S. (2021). Factors influence students' switching behavior to online learning under COVID-19 pandemic: A push–pull–mooring model perspective. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 30(3), 229–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00570-0
- Lin, X., & Wu, R. Z. (2021). An empirical study on the dairy product consumers' intention to adopt the food traceability's technology: Push-pull-mooring model integrated by D&M ISS model and TPB with ITM. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, Article 612889.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.612889
- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Maranto, R., Trivitt, J., Nichols, M., & Watson, A. (2017). No contractual obligation to improve education: School boards and their superintendents. *Politics & Policy*, *45*(6), 1003–1023. https://doi.org/10.1111/polp.12216
- Marshall, C., Rossman, G. B., & Blanco, G. (2022). *Designing qualitative research* (7th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Maslach, C. (2003). Job burnout: New directions in research and intervention. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *12*(5), 189–192. https://doi.org/10.1111%2F1467-8721.01258
- Meuser, J. D., Gardner, W. L., Dinh, J. E., Hu, J., Liden, R. C., & Lord, R. G. (2016). A network analysis of leadership theory: The infancy of integration. *Journal of Management*, 42(5), 1374–1403. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316647099

- Mo, S., & Shi, J. (2015). Linking ethical leadership to employee burnout, workplace deviance and performance: Testing the mediating roles of trust in leader and surface acting. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 144(2), 293–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2821-z
- Mombaers, T., Van Gasse, R., Vanlommel, K., & Van Petegem, P. (2023). 'To teach or not to teach?' An exploration of the career choices of educational professionals. *Teachers and Teaching, Theory and Practice*, 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2023.2201425
- Moon, B. (1995). Paradigms in migration research: exploring "moorings" as a schema. *Progress in Human Geography*, 19(4), 504–524. https://doi.org/10.1177/030913259501900404
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 1:

 Introduction. *European Journal of General Practice*, 23(1), 271–273.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375093
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage Publications.
- Mowry, W. A. (1895). Powers and duties of a school superintendent. *Journal of Education*, 41(4), Article 55. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44047375
- Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077
- Neal, B. E. (2020). A transcendental phenomenological exploration of the lived experiences of undergraduate university students with spiritual leadership [Doctoral dissertation, Grand Canyon University]. ProQuest.

- https://www.proquest.com/openview/a2af12dfbaa28c0c2324b95f67a5cb3d/1.pdf?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2026366&diss=y
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- New York State Education Department. (2023). *New York State education at a glance*. https://data.nysed.gov/index.php
- New York State Education Department. (2021, December 8). *History of the district* superintendency. NYSED District Services. https://p12.nysed.gov/ds/history.html
- Ng, T. W. H. (2017). Transformational leadership and performance outcomes: Analyses of multiple mediation pathways. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 28(3), 385–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.11.008
- Nir, A. E., & Eyal, O. (2003). School-based management and the role conflict of the school superintendent. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 41(5), 547–564. https://doi.org/10.1108/09578230310489362
- Norqvist, L., & Ärlestig, H. (2020). Systems thinking in school organizations perspectives from various leadership levels. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *59*(1), 77–93. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-02-2'20-00'1
- Odegaard, D. (2017). Ode to orchestrating success: The status quo is being shattered. *Music Educators Journal*, 104(1), 7–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/0027432117720179
- Pascale, J., Lineback, J. F., Bates, N., & Beatty, P. (2022). Protecting the identity of participants in qualitative research. *Journal of Survey Statistics and Methodology*, *10*(3), 549–567. https://doi.org/10.1093/jssam/smab048

- Passaris, C. (1989). Immigration and the evolution of economic theory. *International Migration*, 27(4), 525–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.1989.tb00469.x
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Paulsen, J. M., Johansson, O., Moos, L., Nihlfors, E., & Risku, M. (2014). Superintendent leadership under shifting governance regimes. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 28(7), 812–822. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-07-2013-0103
- Peoples, K. (2020). *How to write a phenomenological dissertation: A step-by-step guide* (Vol. 56). Sage Publications.
- Petersen, G. J., Fusarelli, L. D., & Kowalski, T. J. (2008). Novice superintendent perceptions of preparation adequacy and problems of practice. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 3(2), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/194277510800300204
- Pew Research Center. (2014). *Religious landscape study*. Religion & Public Life. https://www.pewforum.org/religious-landscape-study/
- Pielstick, C. D. (1998). The transforming leader: A meta-ethnographic analysis. *Community College Review*, 26(3), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/009155219802600302
- Pilarska, J. (2021). The constructivist paradigm and phenomenological qualitative research design. *Research Paradigm Considerations for Emerging Scholars*, 64–83. https://doi.org/10.21832/9781845418281-008
- Pillay, J., & April, K. (2022). Developing leadership maturity: Ego development and personality coaching. *Effective Executive*, 25(1), 40–73.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/361100047 Developing leadership maturity E

go_development_and_personality_coaching

- Piscitelli, A., Perella, A. M. L., & Payler, A. (2022). Public expectations of school board trustees. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*, *198*, 19–34. https://doi.org/10.7202/1086425ar
- Player, A., Randsley de Moura, G., Leite, A. C., Abrams, D., & Tresh, F. (2019). Overlooked leadership potential: The preference for leadership potential in job candidates who are men vs. women. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 755–755.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00755
- Potthoff, S., Hempeler, C., Gather, J., Gieselmann, A., Vollmann, J., & Scholten, M. (2023).

 Research ethics in practice: An analysis of ethical issues encountered in qualitative health research with mental health service users and relatives. *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy*, 26(4), 517–527. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-023-10169-5
- Poynton, J., Kirkland, R., & Makela, C. (2018). Superintendents building public trust and engagement in five public school communities. *School Community Journal*, 28(2), 265–295.
 - https://go.openathens.net/redirector/liberty.edu?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/superintendents-building-public-trust-engagement/docview/2166968074/se-2
- Preston, J., & Barnes, K. E. R. (2017). Successful leadership in rural schools: Cultivating collaboration. *The Rural Educator*, *38*(1), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v38i1.231
- Przybylski, R., Chen, X., & Hu, L. (2018). Leadership challenges and roles of school superintendents: A comparative study on China and the United States. *Journal of International Education and Leadership*, 8(1).

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1181235.pdf

- Rahmandad, H., & Ton, Z. (2020). If higher pay is profitable, why is it so rare? Modeling competing strategies in mass market services. *Organization Science*, *31*(5), 1053–1071. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2019.1347
- Rallis, S., Tedder, J., Lachman, A., & Elmore, R. (2006). Superintendents in classrooms: From collegial conversation to collaborative action. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87(7), 537–545. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172170608700720
- Rapp, S., Aktas, V., & Ståhlkrantz, K. (2022). Schoolboards' expectations of the superintendent

 a Swedish national survey. *Educational Review*, 74(6) 1101–1118.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2020.1837740
- Raworth, K., Sweetman, C., Narayan, S., Rowlands, J., & Hopkins, A. (2012). *Conducting semi-structured interviews*. Oxfam.
- Ravenstein, E. G. (1885). The laws of migration. *Journal of the Statistical Society*, 48(2), 167–235. https://doi.org/10.2307/2979181
- Reinhardt, A. C., León, T. G., & Amatya, A. (2020). Why nurses stay: Analysis of the registered nurse workforce and the relationship to work environments. *Applied Nursing**Research*, 55, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2020.151316
- Reniers, G. (1999). On the history and selectivity of Turkish and Moroccan migration to Belgium. *International Migration*, *37*(4), 679–713. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2435.00090
- Richard, B., Sivo, S. A., Orlowski, M., Ford, R. C., Murphy, J., Boote, D. N., & Witta, E. L. (2021). Qualitative research via focus groups: Will going online affect the diversity of your findings? *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 62(1), 32–45.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965520967769

- Richardson, J. (2006). Self-directed expatriation: Family matters. *Personnel Review*, *35*(4), 469–486. https://doi.org/10.1108/00483480610670616
- Roberts, K., Hanna, S. L., & Womack, S. T. (2012). *The first-year experiences of successful superintendents*. R&L Education.
- Rubin, R. (2020). School superintendents confront COVID-19 "There are no good options for next year". *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 324(6), 534–536. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.12575
- Saldaña, J., & Omasta, M. (2018). *Qualitative research: Analyzing life*. Sage Publications.
- Sasso, L., Bagnasco, A., Catania, G., Zanini, M., Aleo, G., & Watson, R. (2019). Push and pull factors of nurses' intention to leave. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(5), 946–954. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12745
- Sawchuk, S. (2022). Can cushy perks keep superintendents from quitting? Recent contracts aim to keep big-city superintendents with provisions like eye-popping salaries, sabbaticals, and retirement contributions. *Education Week*, 41(26), Article 14.

 https://www.edweek.org/leadership/can-cushy-perks-keep-superintendents-from-quitting/2022/03
- Schjoedt, L., & Shaver, K. G. (2007). Deciding on an entrepreneurial career: A test of the pull and push hypotheses using the panel study of entrepreneurial dynamics data. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *31*(5), 733–752. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6520.2007.00197.x
- Seet, P., Jones, J., Acker, T., & Jogulu, U. (2021). Meaningful careers in social enterprises in remote Australia: Employment decisions among Australian indigenous art centre

- workers. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *32*(8), 1643–1684. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1528556
- Sendjaya, S., Sarros, J. C., & Santora, J. C. (2008). Defining and measuring servant leadership behaviour in organizations. *Journal of Management Studies*, 45(2), 402–424. https://doiorg.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2007.00761.x
- Sergiovanni, T. J. (1982). Ten principles of quality leadership. *Educational Leadership*, 39(5), Article 330.
 - https://files.ascd.org/staticfiles/ascd/pdf/journals/ed_lead/el_198202_sergiovanni.pdf
- Shapira-Lishchinsky, O., & Levy-Gazenfrantz, T. (2020). Citizenship behavior and misbehavior among superintendents: An integrative approach. *Journal of Educational***Administration, 58(1), 1–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/JEA-03-2019-0034
- Shen, J., Cooley, V. E., & Ruhl-Smith, C. D. (1999). Entering and leaving school administrative positions. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 2(4), 353–367. https://doi.org/10.1080/136031299292922
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Spencer, R., Pryce, J. M., & Walsh, J. (2021). Philosophical approaches to qualitative research.

 In *The Oxford handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 81–98). Oxford University

 Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199811755.013.027
- Stelmach, B., Smith, L., & O'Connor, B. (2021). Moral distress among school leaders: An Alberta, Canada study with global implications. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2021.1926545

- Sterrett, W. L., & Richardson, J. W. (2019). The change-ready leadership of technology-savvy superintendents. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *57*(3), 227–242. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-09-2018-0160
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–29. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2467348904
- Stratton, S. J. (2023). Population sampling: Probability and non-probability techniques. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, *38*(2), 147–148. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X23000304
- Subedi, K. R. (2021). Determining the sample in qualitative research. *Scholars' Journal*, *1*(1), 1–10. https://www.nepjol.info/index.php/scholars
- Sullivan, S., & Shulman, V. (2005). Managing change: The superintendent as line director of instruction. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 8(2), 123–143. https://doi.org/10.1080/01446190500041784
- Superville, D. R. (2020). Advice from a long-serving school board member; in an interview

 Felton Williams shares insights on the school board-superintendent relationship from his

 16 years on the Long Beach, Calif., school board. *Education Week*, 40(13), Article s13.

 https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A642987212/BIC?u=vic_liberty&sid=summon&xid=4a9d-98c1
- Tabachnick, A. R., Sellers, T., Margolis, E., Labella, M., Neff, D., Crowell, S., Raby, K. L., Saenz, C., Conradt, E., & Dozier, M. (2022). Adapting psychophysiological data collection for COVID-19: The "virtual assessment" model. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 43(1), 185–197. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21954

- Terpstra, D. E., & Honoree, A. L. (2004). Job satisfaction and pay satisfaction levels of university faculty by discipline type and by geographic region. *Education*, 124(3), Article 528. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A117036583/BIC?u=vic_liberty&sid=summon&xid=3c813beb
- Tienken, C. H. (2021). *The American superintendent 2020 decennial study*. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Thomas, A. (2008). Focus groups in qualitative research: Culturally sensitive methodology for the Arabian gulf? *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 31(1), 77–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437270801919941
- Tran, H. (2017). The impact of pay satisfaction and school achievement on high school principals' turnover intentions. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 45(4), 621–638. https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143216636115
- Valeras, A. S., & Cordes, C. C. (2020). Adaptive leadership: Becoming the change. *Families Systems & Health*, 38(4), 495–497. https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000574
- van Kaam, A. (1966). Existential foundations of psychology. Duquesne University Press.
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. State University of New York Press.
- Vilkinas, T., Duncan, W. M., & Yi Chua, S. M. (2020). Effective leadership: Considering the confluence of the leader's motivations, behaviours and their reflective ability. *Leadership* & Organization Development Journal, 41(1), 147–163. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-12-2018-0435
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1962). Thought and language. M.I.T. Press, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

- Wallace, B. D. (2003). *The superintendent selection process: A national investigative study*. The University of Memphis.
- Wang, D., Ou, A. Y., & Song, L. J. (2022). Stay humble and fly high: The roles of subordinate voice and competitive work context in the linkage between leader humility and career success. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 29(1), 147–166.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/15480518211059924
- Warren, T. (2021). Work–life balance and gig work: 'Where are we now' and 'where to next' with the work–life balance agenda? *Journal of Industrial Relations*, 63(4), 522–545. https://doi.org/10.1177/00221856211007161
- Waters, T., & Marzano, R. (2006). School district leadership that works: The effect of the superintendent leadership on student achievement. *Educational Research Service*, 25(1), 1–12. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED494270
- Watkins, M. D. (2012). How managers become leaders. The seven seismic shifts of perspective and responsibility. *Harvard Business Review*, 90(6), 64–144.
- Webner, S., De Jong, D., Campoli, A., & Baron, M. (2017). Public school board presidents' and superintendents' perceptions of the characteristics of effective superintendents in a midwestern state. *Journal of School Leadership*, 27(6), 800–830.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/105268461702700602
- Wheelan, S. A., Åkerlund, M., & Jacobsson, C. (2021). *Creating effective teams: A guide for members and leaders*. Sage Publications.
- White, R. S. (2021). What's in a first name?: America's K–12 public school district superintendent gender gap. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2021.1965169

- Whipp, P. R., & Salin, K. (2018). Physical education teachers in Australia: Why do they stay? *Social Psychology of Education*, 21(4), 897–914. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9443-0
- Whitt, K., Scheurich, J. J., & Skrla, L. (2015). Understanding superintendents' self-efficacy influences on instructional leadership and student achievement. *Journal of School Leadership*, 25(1), 102–132. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F105268461502500105
- Williams, S. N., Armitage, C. J., Tampe, T., & Dienes, K. (2021). Public attitudes towards COVID-19 contact tracing apps: A UK-based focus group study. *Health Expectations*, 24(2), 377–385. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.13179
- Woodyatt, C. R., Finneran, C. A., & Stephenson, R. (2016). In-person versus online focus group discussions: A comparative analysis of data quality. *Qualitative health research*, 26(6), 741–749. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316631
- Ylimaki, R. M., Jacobson, S., Johnson, L., Klar, H. W., Nino, J., Orr, M. T., & Scribner, S.
 (2022). Successful principal leadership in challenging American public schools: A brief history of ISSPP research in the United States and its major findings. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 60(1), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-04-2021-0087
- Žnidaršič, J., Bogilović, S., Černe, M., & Kumar Gupta, R. (2021). Leadership-promoted diversity climate and group identification. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 42(7), 1018–1036. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-09-2020-041

Appendix A

IRB Approval Letter

Date: 5-1-2024

IRB #: IRB-FY23-24-802

Title: JOURNEY TO BECOMING A SUPERINTENDENT IN NEW YORK: A TRANSCENDENTAL

PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY Creation Date: 11-12-2023

End Date: Status: Approved

Principal Investigator: Jeremy Koch Review Board: Research Ethics Office

Sponsor:

Study History

Submission Type	Initial Review Type	Limited Decision	Exempt - Limited IRB

Key Study Contacts

Member Jeremy Koch	Role Principal Investigator	Contact
Member Jeremy Koch	Role Primary Contact	Contact
Member Vonda Beavers	Role Co-Principal Investigator	Contact

Appendix B

Consent to Participate in a Research Study

Consent Form Version Date: January, 2023

IRB Study # IRB-FY23-24-802

Title of Study: Journey to Becoming a Superintendent in New York: A Transcendental

Phenomenological Study

Principal Investigator: Jeremy R. Koch

Principal Investigator Email Address:

Dissertation Chairperson: Dr. Vonda Beavers, Adjunct Professor, School of Education

Dissertation Chairperson Email Address:

Dissertation Chairperson Phone:

Study Summary

The purpose of this study is to examine the lived experiences a superintendent encountered on their journey to their superintendency. The information garnered from this study may help to develop the knowledge of future superintendent candidates, improve the hiring process for superintendent positions, and further develop the current body of study and curriculum used for training superintendents and higher education.

Participants in this study will be subject to an interview individually and/or as part of a focus group. Individual interviews will be completed in one session, with an estimated time of 30 to 60 minutes once the setup of recording equipment is complete and the interview questions

commence. Participants will also receive a questionnaire which can be completed without the investigator present through hard copy or electronic media.

What are some general things you should know about research studies?

You are being asked to take part in a research study. To join the study is voluntary.

You may choose not to participate, or you may withdraw your consent to be in the study, for any reason, without penalty.

Research studies are designed to obtain new knowledge. This new information may help people in the future. You may not receive any direct benefit from being in the research study. There also may be risks to being in research studies. Deciding not to be in the study or leaving the study before it is done will not affect your relationship with the researcher.

Details about this study are discussed below. It is important that you understand this information so that you can make an informed choice about being in this research study.

You will be given a copy of this consent form. You should ask the researcher named above, or staff members who may assist them, any questions you have about this study at any time.

What is the purpose of this study?

The purpose of this research study is to gain a better understanding of what superintendents experience when striving to attain their position.

You are being asked to be in the study because you currently hold or have previously held the job title of superintendent in a school district within New York State.

Are there any reasons you should not be in this study?

You should not be in this study if have not been hired and worked as a superintendent of schools in a public New York School District.

How many people will take part in this study?

Approximately 10-15 people at will take part in this study.

How long will your part in this study last?

The interview time for the individual sessions and focus group will vary between 30-60 minutes depending on the answers and follow-up questions discussed. The overall time for an individual interview would be 60-90 minutes, allocating for 15 minutes before and after the interview for setup and breakdown of equipment and supplies.

The questionnaire should take 12-20 minutes to complete.

What will happen if you take part in the study?

If you choose to take part in this study you will be subject to an interview with the investigator and questionnaire. You will be recorded through at least two different recording devices and your answers will be analyzed and compared with other superintendents and their answers.

What are the possible benefits from being in this study?

Research is designed to benefit society by gaining new knowledge. There is little chance you will benefit from being in this research study directly.

How will information about you be protected?

Participants will not be identified in any report or publication about this study. We may use deidentified data from this study in future research without additional consent.

- Electronic audio/video recordings will be kept on a password protected computer and network.
- o Audio/video tapes/memory cards/etc. will be kept under lock and key.

Check the line that best matches your choice:

_____ OK to record me during the study

____ Not OK to record me during the study (Please Note: Checking "Not OK" for recording will prevent you from participating in this study.)

What if you want to stop before your part in the study is complete?

You can withdraw from this study at any time, without penalty. The investigator also has the right to stop your participation at any time. This could be because you have failed to follow instructions or because the entire study has been stopped.

If you withdraw or are withdrawn from this study all data collected will be destroyed and no additional data will be collected.

Will you receive anything for being in this study?

You will not be receiving anything for taking part in this study. Your participation is voluntary and again, you can stop at any time.

Will it cost you anything to be in this study?

This study does not require participants to pay for any of their part in this study.

What if you have questions about this study?

You have the right to ask, and have answered, any questions you may have about this research. If you have questions about the study, complaints, concerns, or if a research-related injury occurs, you should contact the investigator listed on the first page of this form.

Participant's Agreement:

I have read the information provided above. I have asked all the questions I have at this time. I voluntarily agree to participate in this research study.

Signature of Research Participant

Date				
Printed Name of Research Participant				
Signature of Research Investigator Obtaining Consent				
Date				
Jeremy R. Koch				
Printed Name of Research Investigator Obtaining Consent				

Appendix C

Recruitment Script

Hello,

My name is Jeremy Koch and I am a doctoral student at Liberty University. I'm conducting a research study that will describe the lived experiences of superintendents in school districts within New York State. I am contacting you because I believe you will be able to provide relevant insights and perceptions about your experiences as a Superintendent in a New York school district. In order to participate in this study you must currently be employed as or previously have been employed as a Superintendent of schools within New York State. There will be an individual interview that will take between 30 and 60 minutes of active participation on your part and approximately 60 to 90 minutes total which factors 15 minutes before and after for setup and breakdown of recording devices. There is also an option to complete interviews remotely through Google Meet. There will also be a questionnaire to be filled out but does not have to be completed while the researcher is present. Before any interviews, questionnaires, or focus groups are completed participants will be given a consent form to sign indicating that they consent to the research and to being recorded. All personally identifiable information will be kept under lock and key and will not be published as part of the research. Lastly, some participants will be asked to participate in a focus group with other superintendents to conduct a second interview. Thank you for taking the time to read about my study. Please let me know if you are interested in participating.

Thank you,

Jeremy Koch

Appendix D

Phenomenological Research Questions

Central Research Question

How do school district leaders describe their lived experience during their journey to becoming a superintendent in New York?

Sub-Question One

What were the motivations and career goals superintendents set before entering the field of education in a school district?

Sub-Question Two

What are common pushes and pulls that lead educational professionals to pursue the position of school superintendent?

Sub-Question Three

What experiences most prepared district leaders for the superintendent role?